
Date Published:30 April 2018     

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 9 May 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 
2018.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda

Laura Powick

4  AIR POLLUTION AND ITS IMPACT ON PUBLIC HEALTH TASK 
GROUP (Pages 9 - 74)

To receive a report on the task group’s recommendations.

Cllr Jeremy 
Hilton

5  PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY (Pages 75 - 78)

At Full Council on 14 February 2018, an amendment to the 2018-19 
budget was proposed to allocate £50,000 revenue recurring to 
Public Rights of Way to fund an additional member of staff. 

The amendment was not supported, however it was agreed that the 

Cllr Nigel Moor



    

Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure  would 
investigate the issues, including timescale and officer capacity, and 
report back to the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee on 9 May 2018.

The Committee to receive a report from the Cabinet Member. 

6  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 79 - 80)

The Committee to note a report from the Chief Fire Officer, detailing 
information on the portfolio of services provided by the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council.

Stewart Edgar

7  COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT (Pages 81 - 102)

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to update the Committee on current issues. 

Nigel Riglar

8  WORK PLAN (Pages 103 - 104)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. (Work plan attached). 

Cllr Robert Bird

9  FUTURE MEETINGS 

11 July 2018
19 September 2018
7 November 2018

Laura Powick

Membership –  Cllr Robert Bird (Chairman), Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Kevin Cromwell, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Stephen Hirst 
and Cllr Rachel Smith 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Wednesday 7 March 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - 
Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Robert Bird (Chair)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Sajid Patel

Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Rachel Smith

Substitutes: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Apologies: Cllr Jeremy Hilton and Cllr Patrick Molyneux

54. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Jeremy Hilton and Patrick Molyneux. 

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson substituted at the meeting for Cllr Hilton. 

55. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2018 were approved and signed by 
the Chair. 

56. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made. 

57. MOTION 787: PAVEMENTS 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, presented a report on 
measures to improve the inspection and fixing of pavements to the Committee.

The Committee noted that, on 7 December 2016, full Council considered Motion 
787: Pavements, and resolved that the Cabinet Member report back to the 
Highways Advisory Group on measures to improve the inspection and fixing of 
pavements, before reporting back to Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee with a positive action plan. However, as the Highways Advisory Group 
was disbanded, the report was being received directly by the Committee. 

The Committee was informed that the level of investment for footways throughout 
the County was anticipated to be £800k for the 2018-19 financial year, and, in 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

addition to capital funding, there was also investment on the footway network from 
the revenue budget, contributions by members from their Highways Local 
allocation, and lengthsmen activities. 

The Committee was advised that the 3600km of footways within the County were 
inspected according to a scheduled programme, in addition to reactive inspections 
following reports of defects by members of the public. Members were also informed 
that the Highways Safety Inspection Policy had been tested in the courts over a 
number of years, and that the judiciary had recognised the process as robust. 

It was recommended to the Committee that the current best practice approach be 
continued and supported, and that members should continue to work closely with 
their Local Highways Managers to assign their Highways Local allocations towards 
footways works they wished to prioritise in their divisions. 

Cllr Hodgkinson, who proposed the motion at full Council, highlighted the poor state 
of footways in his division, and the need for better measures to improve the 
inspection of footways. 

Cllr Hodgkinson also highlighted his disappointment that it had taken over a year for 
the motion to be considered by the Committee. It was suggested that there needed 
to be better monitoring of actions resulting from motions at full Council. Following a 
discussion, it was agreed that the Chairman would raise the issue with the Head of 
Democratic Services. 

There were queries from members regarding the assessment of town centres by 
walked inspections, and regarding the liability and cost of footways claims. 

Several members expressed their satisfaction at working with their Local Highways 
Manager to identify and resolve problems with footways in their divisions. 

Following a detailed discussion, it was agreed that the issue of footways would be 
added to the work plan for the Committee to reconsider in a year’s time. It was also 
suggested that the local highways satisfaction survey include a specific section for 
the consideration of footways and cycle ways in the future.

The Cabinet Member expressed his thanks to officers for contributing to the report, 
as well as to the highways crews who had worked to ensure transport could keep 
moving on the roads during the recent snow events. 

58. A417 'MISSING LINK' CONSULTATION 

Amanda Lawson-Smith, Transport Planning Team Manager, gave a presentation to 
the Committee on the A417 ‘Missing Link’ consultation, which was being 
undertaken by Highways England between 15 February and 29 March 2018. The 
Committee noted that it was on the Cabinet Forward Plan for a Lead Cabinet 
Member decision to be taken on 22 March 2018 on the response from the Council 
to the consultation.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Committee was advised that, following a process of sifting and assessment, 
Highways England were presenting Option 12 and Option 30 as their proposed 
route options for the A417 ‘Missing Link’, and that Highways England had 
recommended Option 30 as the preferred route. 

The Committee considered the options proposed by Highways England in detail. In 
particular, the Committee discussed how to raise the issue of noise pollution along 
the A417 and A419 with Highways England, in addition to whether an item on the 
consultation could be debated at the full Council meeting on 28 March 2018.

One member expressed their concern regarding the options proposed by Highways 
England, however the majority of members expressed their support for the work 
which was being undertaken to address the A417 ‘Missing Link’.

Following the discussion, the Committee voted on its preferred route option. The 
majority of members (7) voted in support of Option 30, whilst the remaining member 
voted against both route options.

The Committee agreed to present its view in a statement to the Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Skills and Growth, for him to consider as part of his decision on the 
Council’s response to the consultation. The Committee agreed to propose in its 
statement to the Cabinet Member that he consider:

- Supporting the recommendation by Highways England that Option 30 was 
the preferred route for the A417 ‘Missing Link’;

- Requesting, in the Council’s response to the consultation, that noise 
attenuation along the A417/A419 be addressed as part of the A417 ‘Missing 
Link’ scheme; and

- Raising the A417 ‘Missing Link’ consultation as an item on the agenda for 
debate at the full Council meeting on 28 March 2018. 

59. A429 TASK GROUP 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, updated the 
Committee on progress with the A429 Task Group recommendations. The A429 
Task Group report and recommendations were previously considered by the 
Committee on 18 May 2016, before it was presented to Cabinet on 8 June 2016.

In particular, Cllr Moor highlighted to the Committee progress with recommendation 
2 (promote the importance of the A429 to the economic health of the vibrant rural 
community through which it travels; and in the longer term, to seek reclassification 
of the road as a trunk road). It was noted that officers and the Lead Cabinet 
Member had concluded that the likelihood of the A429 being classified as a trunk 
road was low and that the Council should therefore focus its attention on 
opportunities for managing HGV traffic and dealing with capacity issues. The partial 
review of the Gloucestershire LTP in 2018 also presented an opportunity to 
consider the status of the A429.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The Committee was also informed, in relation to recommendation 6 (support air 
quality monitoring at key locations, including Stow-on-the-Wold and Moreton-in-
Marsh), that there had recently been new investment in mobile air quality 
monitoring equipment, which could be used across the districts in Gloucestershire. 
It was also noted that a task group focussed on air pollution had been established, 
and that the Council budget for 2018-19 included investment into an Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Delivery Programme. 

One member expressed their mixed feelings on the update report, highlighting a 
concern over a lack of short-term solutions to the issues raised by the task group. 
Clarification was also sought on the list of S106 contributions and CIL money which 
was available along the A429 corridor. 

Cllr Moor thanked the Committee for supporting the work of the A429 Task Group.

60. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report to the Committee, which 
detailed information on the portfolio of services provided by Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service (GFRS).

In particular, members noted that GFRS had submitted its response to the 
consultation on the new Fire and Rescue National Framework for England; that 
preparations for the HMICFRS inspection, which was likely to take place in spring 
2019, were progressing well; and that, following a comprehensive review, GFRS 
had developed a revised set of key and local performance indicators. 

Attention was also drawn to the interim report for the Independent Review of 
Building Regulations and Fire Safety, which was appended to the report. 

In response to a query, it was explained that the inaugural meeting of the Blue Light 
Collaboration Board had taken place and that potential sites for joint blue light 
bases were to be considered in May 2018. 

61. COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT 

Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure, updated the 
Committee on current issues on behalf of the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure. In particular, members noted that:

a) The Structural Maintenance contract had been awarded to Tarmac, and that 
a decision on the Term Maintenance Contract was due in September 2018;

b) The number of gritting runs as part of the highway maintenance winter 
operations was in the high 70s already for this year due to recent snow 
events;

c) The tender for a replacement Park and Ride service at Arle Court in 
Cheltenham had been suspended to consider commercial interest from bus 
operators;

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

d) The last phase of the library Growth Hubs would be rolled out by 31 March 
2018, an Innovation Lab was being set up at Coleford Library, and there had 
been a lot of interest nationally in the Gloucestershire model; and that 

e) A recruitment process was underway within the Highways Development 
Management Team to recruit to vacant and new positions.

Members were also invited to attend the Bike Hire Members Seminar which was 
taking place on Tuesday 13 March 2018.

Members asked questions, in particular, on changes following the road safety 
review; gritting supplies; the relationship between parking and cycling routes; the 
Highways Contract; the shared space on Southgate Street, Gloucester; and 
highways maintenance within member divisions. 

In response to a query, it was clarified that a report from the Cabinet Member on 
issues relating to Public Rights of Way, including timescale and officer capacity, 
which was referred to the Committee by full Council on 14 February 2018, would be 
received at the Committee meeting on 9 May 2018.

The Committee noted the report.

62. WORK PLAN 

At its meeting on 9 May 2018, the Committee would receive a report on the 
recommendations of the Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Task Group. 
The Committee would also receive a report from the Cabinet Member on issues 
relating to Public Rights of Way, including timescale and officer capacity, which was 
referred to the Committee by full Council on 14 February 2018 following a proposed 
amendment to the budget.

It was proposed that items on electric vehicle infrastructure and libraries be 
considered at the July meeting, that an item on national park status for the 
Cotswolds be considered at the September meeting, and an item on Fastershire 
Broadband be considered at the November meeting.

63. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Committee noted the meeting dates for the remainder of 2018.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.00 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
7 March 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

118. Motion 787: 
Pavements 

To provide Cllr Cordwell with 
details of the town centres 
assessed by walked inspections 
on a monthly basis.

Kathryn 
Haworth

Completed

2 Motion 787: 
Pavements

An item on footways to be added 
to the Committee work plan under 
future items to be reconsidered in 
a year’s time.

Laura Powick Completed

3 Motion 787: 
Pavements

To include a specific section for the 
consideration of footways and 
cycle ways in the local highways 
satisfaction survey.

Scott 
Tompkins/Cllr 
Vernon Smith

To be incorporated into 
the survey for when it is 
next sent out. 

4 Motion 787: 
Pavements

The Chairman to raise the issue of 
better monitoring of actions 
resulting from motions at full 
Council with the Head of 
Democratic Services.

Cllr Rob Bird N/A

5 A417 ‘Missing 
Link’ 
Consultation

To present the Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Skills and Growth with a 
statement detailing the views of the 
Committee regarding the A417 
‘Missing Link’ consultation, to be 
considered as part of his decision 
on the Council’s response to the 
Highways England consultation on 
the A417 ‘Missing Link’ scheme.

Laura Powick Completed

6 Work Plan - A report on the 
recommendations of the Air 
Pollution and its Impact on 
Public Health Task Group, and 
a report from the Cabinet 
Member on issues relating to 
Public Rights of Way, including 
timescale and officer capacity, 
to be received at the meeting 
on 9 May 2018;

- Items on libraries and electric 
vehicle infrastructure to be 
added to the work plan for the 
meeting in July 2018;

- An item on national park status 
for the Cotswolds to be added 
to the work plan for the 
meeting in September 2018; 
and

- An item on Fastershire 
Broadband to be added to the 
work plan for the meeting in 

Laura Powick Completed 

Page 7



November 2018.

Page 8



1

 
Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Scrutiny Task Group

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 On 12 July 2017, the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
received a report on the Air Quality Schools Pilot Project. Following a 
discussion, the Committee agreed that a task group should be established 
to consider further issues relating to air pollution. The minutes for the 
meeting can be accessed at: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId
=8403&Ver=4 

1.2 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee agreed to the 
establishment of a scrutiny task group on air pollution and its impact on 
public health. The ambitions of the task group were to:

- Understand the effects of air pollution on public health and which 
communities within the County are particularly affected;

- Consider actions Gloucestershire County Council and partners could 
take to reduce air pollution and its effects on public health, taking into 
account national legislation on air pollution and the evidence base for 
effective interventions;

- Consider how to improve collaborative working with partners and how 
to channel existing funds and secure national funding to effectively 
reduce the harmful impacts of air pollution within the County;

- Understand how to effectively engage and enable the public to reduce 
air pollution and the impact on their health;

- Complete a Health and Systems Impact Assessment on Air Quality and 
Health in Gloucestershire; and 

- To identify Council policy areas which could contribute to air quality 
improvements, e.g. new housing development, transport, parking and 
energy.

1.3 Membership of the Task Group

Councillors Carole Allaway Martin, Matt Babbage, Rob Bird, Iain Dobie, 
Terry Hale, Jeremy Hilton (Chair), Keith Rippington and Rachel Smith.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8403&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8403&Ver=4


2

1.4 Who did the Task Group speak to?

- Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure 
- Director of Public Health
- Lead Commissioner Community Infrastructure
- Consultant in Public Health
- Data and Analysis Manager (Place)
- Dr Adrian Davis BA, PHD, FFPH, Visiting Professor of Transport and 

Health, and Senior Fellow at the University of the West of England
- Key stakeholders from district councils, partner organisations, and local 

businesses. 

1.5 The following report considers the evidence behind air pollution and its 
impact on public health in Gloucestershire, and sets out the findings and 
recommendations of the task group. A number of the task group’s 
recommendations are focused on the establishment of a Gloucestershire 
Air Quality Monitoring Group, and a Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health 
Partnership, in addition to the development of a county-wide strategy to 
address air pollution and health in Gloucestershire. 

2 BACKGROUND

Air Quality

2.1 As defined by the World Health Organisation, air quality is a measure of the 
degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is pollution free from 
any chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural 
characteristics of the atmosphere. 

2.2 Air pollution is a combination of particles and gases that contribute to poor 
air quality, and can have adverse effects on health. Particulate matter (PM) 
and Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) are the most significant primary air pollutants 
within the UK.

2.3 PM consists of particles from combustion products, soot, part-burnt diesel 
and petrol compounds, rubber and other waste matter from road surfaces, 
and can be generated through construction and agricultural processes. 
PM10 and PM2.5 are of most concern as these particles, due to their size, 
can be inhaled deep into the lungs. NO2 is a gas which, as highlighted by a 
growing evidence base, has a significant impact on public health. One of 
the main sources of NO2 is petrol and diesel road vehicles. Whilst NO2 

emissions have fallen by 69% and PM emissions by 73% since 1970, poor 
air quality continues to be an issue in areas across the country.

Page 10



3

2.4 Air quality objectives for England determine the legal limits pollutant 
concentrations should not exceed in a given area. However, even exposure 
to air pollution measuring below the legal limits can still have an effect on 
health. 

Impact of Pollutants on Public Health

2.5 Evidence has increasingly highlighted the significant impact of air pollution 
on public health. Even exposure over a short time period or to low levels of 
air pollution can impact on health. According to Public Health England, poor 
air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK. The 
Royal College of Physicians has also estimated that poor air quality is 
responsible for 40,000 premature deaths in the UK annually. In 
Gloucestershire, national modelled data suggests that exposure to PM is 
estimated to contribute to around 278 deaths a year (as referenced in Table 
2, p.22 of Appendix A). 

2.6 Exposure to air pollution can contribute to the development of 
cardiovascular disease, lung cancer, and respiratory diseases, and can 
limit an individual’s quality of life. Those who may be at particular risk from 
the effects of poor air quality include older people, children, people with 
pre-existing lung and heart conditions, and people on lower incomes. 

National Policy 

2.7 In July 2017, the government published the ‘UK plan for tackling roadside 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations’, which sets out the government’s ambition 
for a better environment and cleaner air.

2.8 As detailed in the publication, the government has committed over £2.7 
billion to fund air quality and cleaner transport schemes, including:

-  £1 billion to invest in ultra low emission vehicles (ULEVs);
- £290 million to the National Productivity Fund for reducing transport 

emissions;
- £11 million awarded through the Air Quality Grant scheme to help local 

authorities improve air quality; and
- £1.2 billion identified through the Cycling and Walking Investment 

Strategy which may be invested in cycling and walking from 2016-2021.

2.9 The publication also sets out the requirement for local action plans to be 
developed to deliver the national plan, recognising the importance of action 
at the local level and highlighting the vital role of local authorities in 
addressing air pollution. 

Page 11



4

2.10 Additionally, the government published the ‘Clean Growth Strategy – 
Leading the Way to a Low Carbon Future’ in October 2017, and is expected 
to publish a further strategy on the pathway to zero emission transport for 
all road vehicles by March 2018. The government is also expected to 
release a wider Clean Air Strategy in 2018 setting out how the UK will meet 
its international commitments to significantly reduce emissions of five 
damaging air pollutants by 2020 and 2030.

Air Quality in Gloucestershire

2.11 The main sources of air pollution in Gloucestershire are transport and 
farming. Estimates suggest that levels of PM2.5 are highest in Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury, where they exceed regional averages, whilst NO2 levels 
are estimated to be at their highest in north Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
around Gloucestershire Airport. Evidence also indicates that deprived 
populations in Gloucestershire disproportionately bear the impact of air 
pollution, and levels of NO2 are higher in areas in Gloucestershire where 
there are a higher proportion of children.

2.12 The legal obligation to monitor air pollution lies with the district councils in 
the County. If the legal limits for air pollutants are exceeded, the district 
councils have a responsibility to declare an air quality management area 
(AQMA). There are a number of AQMAs across the County, including:

- a town wide AQMA in Cheltenham;
- at Painswick Road, Barton Street and Priory Road in Gloucester;
- the town centre in Tewkesbury; 
- Lydney town centre in the Forest of Dean; and 
- at the Air Balloon roundabout in the Cotswolds.  

2.13 The issue of poor air quality within Gloucestershire has also been 
highlighted by a recent High Court ruling in London on 21 February 2018. 
The ruling orders ministers to require local authorities to investigate and 
identify measures to tackle illegal levels of pollution in 33 towns and cities 
as soon as possible. Cheltenham is one of the areas affected by the ruling. 

Action to Address Air Pollution within the County

2.14 A number of strategies have already been implemented within the County 
by Gloucestershire County Council to address the issue of poor air quality.

2.15 In particular, the 2016/17 Council budget included £50,000 to carry out an 
independent study of air quality outside schools. As part of the Air Quality 
Schools Pilot Project, the Council worked with district councils and schools 

Page 12



5

in Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Cheltenham to examine solutions to reduce 
pollution levels outside primary and secondary schools in AQMAs.

2.16 Other actions to tackle air pollution by the Council include investment into 
cycling and walking projects, subsidised transport projects, and reviewing 
specifications in transport contracts.

3 MULTI-STAKEHOLDER WORKSHOP ON AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH

3.1 In order to gain an understanding of the relationship between public health 
and air quality, to examine the evidence base on the issue, and to prioritise 
actions to take forward, the task group hosted a health and systems impact 
assessment stakeholder workshop on air quality and health in 
Gloucestershire.

3.2 The workshop took place on 16 January 2018 and was attended by 55 
delegates representing a wide range of organisations, including 
Gloucestershire County Council, the district councils, GFirst LEP, NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, South West Highways 
England, Public Health England, Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust, 
Stagecoach, and the University of Gloucestershire. 

3.3 An evidence pack (Appendix A) was collated and shared with the task 
group and stakeholders prior to the workshop to inform discussions. 
Following a presentation by Dr Adrian Davis BA, PHD, FFPH, Visiting 
Professor of Transport and Health, and Senior Fellow at the University of 
the West of England, delegates were allocated to five discussion tables and 
were asked to consider the following questions:

- What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse?
- What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air 

quality?
- What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air 

quality and reduce its impact on our health?
- What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in 

Gloucestershire?
- What are the top three changes you would prioritise for Gloucestershire 

to improve air quality and/ or reduce its impact on our health?

3.4 The outcomes from the workshop were collated into a report (Appendix B), 
which was presented to the task group to inform their findings. 

Page 13



6

4 FINDINGS

4.1 When considering its recommendations, the task group reflected on the 
outcomes and recommendations from the multi-stakeholder workshop, 
which provided the group with an understanding of the relationship between 
air quality and public health, and the actions that could be taken forward to 
address the issue of air quality in Gloucestershire. 

Air Quality Monitoring

4.2 The task group understands that the evidence for air pollution levels in 
Gloucestershire is currently heavily based on modelled data. The 
monitoring of air quality is limited across the County, and only includes 
NO2.The task group recognises the importance of improving air quality 
monitoring, in order to develop a comprehensive evidence base on air 
pollution levels. Considering that the strongest evidence base for the 
impact on the public’s health is related to PM, it is particularly important that 
this is addressed in the approach to monitoring. 

4.3 The collection of data through increased air quality monitoring will 
contribute to a better understanding of air quality issues within the County, 
including the identification of areas particularly affected by air pollution. The 
data can be used to develop effective strategies to address poor air quality 
and to measure the success of these strategies. The data can also be 
shared with the public to inform behaviour choices and action to address air 
pollution by communities and individuals. 

4.4 The task group welcomes the recent investment by the Council into 
additional mesh pod air quality monitoring equipment, which can be used to 
measure gases and particulates, including PM2.5, across three areas in 
Gloucestershire. However, the task group believes that, given the 
considerable risk posed to public health by air pollution, and in particular 
PM, further work needs to be carried out to improve monitoring across the 
County.

Recommendation 1: The task group recommends that a 
Gloucestershire Air Quality Monitoring Group, comprising of relevant 
officers from the district and county councils, be established by the 
end of September 2018 to:

- Evaluate how to improve air quality monitoring across 
Gloucestershire;

- Focus air quality monitoring on PM;

Page 14



7

- Review the deployment of air quality monitoring equipment across 
Gloucestershire to improve understanding of air pollution levels;

- Analyse the data collected across the County to develop 
objectives to address air pollution levels;

- Monitor the impact of interventions to improve air quality across 
the County; and to

- Consider how air quality monitoring information can be shared 
with the public.

Leadership and Collaboration 

4.5 The task group recognises that partnership working across both public and 
private sector organisations is crucial to drive forward strategies to improve 
air quality and to reduce the impact of air pollution on public health in 
Gloucestershire. Leadership to develop this collaboration is vital.

4.6 There are already good examples of collaborative working across 
Gloucestershire, such as the development of the Joint Core Strategy 
between Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham Borough Council, and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council. The multi-stakeholder workshop also 
highlights the enthusiasm across organisations to work collaboratively 
towards improving air quality and reducing the impact on public health 
within the County. Nevertheless, the task group feels that there is still too 
much ‘silo working’, with organisations and departments working 
independently to address the issues. 

4.7 The group believes that there needs to be a partnership approach across 
organisations to address air quality in the County, which includes the 
development of a wider, unifying air quality strategy. The County Council 
should have a leading role in facilitating this partnership approach.

Recommendation 2: The task group recommends that a 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership, comprising of 
representatives from both public and private sector organisations, 
including the relevant Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet 
Member, be established by December 2018 to drive the development 
and delivery of the agenda for air quality and health in 
Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 3: The task group recommends that the terms of 
reference and membership for the Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Partnership be presented for consideration at a meeting of the 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee.

Page 15



8

Recommendation 4: The task group recommends that the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership develop a strategy 
to address air quality and health within Gloucestershire by June 2019. 

Recommendation 5: The task group recommends that the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership report into the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board on strategy development 
and implementation. Updates on progress should also be reported 
and scrutinised at both the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee and Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
the County Council. 

Public Awareness and Engagement 

4.8 Increased public awareness of air pollution and its impact on health is 
crucial in order to change the public mind-set towards the issue. The task 
group notes that, currently, the public is not fully aware of the impact of 
poor air quality on communities and the health of individuals.

4.9 Information on air quality needs to be made more accessible to the public, 
and should include data on air pollution levels across the County. This 
information will enable the public to make informed choices regarding their 
behaviour, such as their method of travel, and will help the public to 
develop actions to reduce air pollution and the impact it has on health. 

Recommendation 6: The task group recommends that a website and 
information material be developed by the Gloucestershire Air Quality 
Monitoring Group to provide the public with information on air quality 
and its impact on health within Gloucestershire, including access to 
real-time air quality monitoring data in open data format, and actions 
members of the public and private sector can take to address the 
issue. 

Planning and Transport Policies 

4.10 The task group understands that current planning policies do not explicitly 
promote consideration of air quality in the development of new schemes. 
However, the group feels that this area is key to delivering improvements to 
air quality in Gloucestershire, by addressing the issues earlier rather than 
later in the planning process when it may become too difficult or expensive.

4.11 The task group recognises the opportunity to promote air quality objectives 
through Joint Core Strategy development plans, however believes there 
should be wider consideration of air quality in the development of other 

Page 16



9

planning policies. The consideration of air quality should also be included in 
the development of transport policies, such as the Gloucestershire Local 
Transport Plan. 

4.12 The task group also understands the effects of traffic congestion on 
increased air pollution levels, which subsequently impacts on health. The 
task group believes that interventions should be developed to tackle 
congestion on the roads, which will improve air pollution levels across the 
County. 

Recommendation 7: The task group recommends that the district and 
county councils in Gloucestershire take account of air quality when 
developing planning and transport policies, including consideration 
of the impact of additional traffic on air quality, and active travel into 
larger development proposals and highway schemes. 

Recommendation 8: The task group recommends that greater 
recognition of the impact of transport on air quality and public health 
is included in the review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan. 
This should include more ambitious targets set for trips made by 
sustainable and active travel.

Recommendation 9: The task group recommends that 
Gloucestershire County Council consider highways interventions to 
reduce congestion and pollution across Gloucestershire. 

Electric Vehicles

4.13 The task group recognises the importance of investment into infrastructure 
to support the use of electric vehicles in the County, and welcomes the 
investment of £470,000 by the Council in its 2018-19 budget into an Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Delivery Programme to include on-street 
charging points and the provision of Council electric vehicles. The task 
group feels that additional work should be undertaken to further explore the 
opportunities to promote the uptake of electric vehicles.

Recommendation 10: The task group recommends that a sub-group of 
the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership be established 
to explore opportunities to promote uptake of electric vehicles for 
both business and private use, and to review options to incentivise 
electric vehicle uptake. 

Page 17



10

Active Travel 

4.14 Active travel, such as walking and cycling, is a cleaner and healthier way 
for members of the public to travel. The task group identifies the promotion 
of active travel as an important intervention to improve air quality and 
reduce reliance on car use. The task group also recognises the benefits of 
active travel for other public health concerns, such as obesity. 

4.15 Current measures to promote active travel within Gloucestershire include 
school active travel plans, the establishment of a Cycling Advisory Group 
by the Council, and the development of a Think Travel Coordinator role at 
the Council. Additionally, some infrastructure to support active travel 
already exists, however it is often fragmented and inadequate in terms of 
capacity and range. The task group therefore supports further 
improvements to promote and enable active travel in Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 11: The task group recommends that 
Gloucestershire County Council establish a programme of work to 
promote the uptake of active travel in Gloucestershire. This work 
should engage the public, local businesses, the district councils, 
other public sector organisations, and schools. This programme of 
work should also link with other public health schemes that are 
already focusing on behaviour change to improve activity levels, such 
as Gloucestershire Moves. 

Public Transport and Public Sector Fleets

4.16 The task group recognises the role of public transport in contributing to a 
change in travel behaviour to reduce air pollution, and the significance of 
making public transport more accessible so that it can become a viable 
alternative to car travel. Members of the task group also support 
improvements to the public transport and taxi fleet in the County so that 
vehicles are more fuel efficient and emit less pollution. 

4.17 Finally, the task group also feels that the vehicle fleets used by the Council, 
district councils, and NHS within Gloucestershire should be fuel efficient 
and less polluting. By reviewing its fleet and developing plans to reduce the 
emissions of its vehicles, the Council can lead by example and promote the 
adoption of cleaner vehicles to other organisations within Gloucestershire. 

 
Recommendation 12: The task group recommends that a sub-group of 
the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership be established 
to review:

Page 18



11

- Interventions to accelerate the uptake of cleaner vehicles for 
public transport and taxis, including the role of licensing policies 
and additional infrastructure requirements; 

- The specification of transport contracts to better understand the 
effects of stricter emissions standards on areas of poor air 
quality, and any implications for accessibility;

- County Council, district council and NHS vehicle fleets, and 
develop plans to reduce the emissions of these fleets; and

- County Council, district council, and NHS contracting 
arrangements with providers to reduce emissions from external 
contractors’ fleets.

 
The sub-group is to make recommendations to the County Council, 
district councils and NHS in respect of its findings.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Review of Air Quality and Health in 
Gloucestershire 

Executive Summary 

Scope of this review 
 This review supports the air quality health and system impact assessment for 

Gloucestershire. An initial version was shared with participants of the air quality health and 
system impact assessment workshop held by Gloucestershire County Council in January 
2018. This paper is intended to inform the work of its Scrutiny Task Group on Air Pollution 
and its Impact on Public Health. 

 The review focuses on two key pollutants: particulate matter and nitrogen dioxide. These 
are the two principle pollutants affecting health of the population, and which are amenable 
to action at the local level.  

 The review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, and the 
interventions to improve air quality or mitigate its impact on health at the local level. There 
is also a review of the data on air quality in Gloucestershire, relevant health outcomes, and 
associated information including levels of active travel.   

What do we mean by air quality? 
 Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is 

pollution free. Sources of pollution can be local or regional. Locally generated pollution 
relates to the pollution levels produced within a given area. In Gloucestershire sources 
include industry, transport and agricultural. Regional pollution originates from other areas 
but can be detected within the given area. This can be seen on a regional, continental or 
global scale.  

 The key pollutants contributing to poor air quality are: particulate matter, nitrogen dioxide, 
carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, and low level ozone. While all of these 
pollutants contribute to poor human health outcomes, the review focuses on particulate 
matter and nitrogen dioxide as these are most amenable to action at the local level in 
Gloucestershire. 

 Particulate matter describes pollution which is mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets. 
PM₁₀s and PM₂.₅s (particles less than 10 and 2.5 micrometers in diameter respectively) are of 
most interest as they are fine inhalable particles which can be absorbed into the lung tissue. 
In Gloucestershire the main local sources are from road use; combustion of fuel, road use 
and brake dust among other sources.  

 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂) is the most notable of a group of gases referred to as nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), in terms of its impact on health. The main sources of NO₂ are from petrol and diesel 
road vehicles, and power plants. In Gloucestershire the principle local source of NO₂ which 
the population is exposed to is from road transport. 

 There are both national and European directive target levels for specific pollutants. Even 
after leaving the European Union, these targets are likely to be maintained.  

 Poor air quality is the greatest environmental threat to Public’s health in the UK. It has a 
large impact on health and life expectancy in the UK. It is also has a large cost in terms of 
health and social care use, and lost productivity.  

Page 21



2 
 

The relationship between air quality and health 
 In the UK, there are approximately 340,000 life years lost, and 40,000 deaths annually from 

exposure to poor air quality (estimates principally from particulate matter and nitrogen 

dioxide). 

 Exposure to poor air quality results in both acute admissions to healthcare services, and long 

term health and social care needs. 

 Poor air quality is a source of inequality, where those who are most deprived are also the 

most likely to live in areas with the highest level of exposure. Even though they may not be 

large contributors of pollutants themselves.  

 There is no safe level of exposure to PM₂.₅ or NO₂. Even where air quality meets European 

Directive limits there is still a negative impact on health outcomes 

 PM₂.₅ (finer particulate pollution) is the most studied form of pollution, and has the 

strongest evidence base for independent causal effect on poor health outcomes. It has been 

shown to impact on the development of both pulmonary and cardiovascular diseases, as 

well as some cancers.  

 Short term exposure to PM₂.₅ has a strong relationship to myocardial infarction (heart 

attack) and myocardial ischemia (restriction of blood to the heart). Studies have also shown 

increased incidence of arrhythmias (irregular heart beat) and stroke. For longer term 

exposures, PM₂.₅ has a strong relationship to myocardial infarction, angina, and prevalence 

of atherosclerosis (build-up of plaque on inside of arteries). There has also been a strong 

relationship between long term exposure to PM₂.₅ and prevalence of chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease. 

 There is a strong independent relationship between short term exposure to NO₂ and the 

prevalence of respiratory conditions, particularly asthma in children, and associated 

exacerbation of respiratory conditions (strongest in asthmatics). There is also evidence to 

suggest an impact on cardiovascular disease outcomes, but this is not strong enough to infer 

causality.  

 For longer term exposure to NO₂ there is likely an independent causal effect on respiratory 
disease. The evidence is also suggestive of a similar relationship to cardiovascular disease, 
although this is not currently strong enough to support an independent causal relationship. 

Air quality and health data in Gloucestershire 
 Air quality levels for PM2.5 in Gloucestershire are in line with regional averages. Estimated 

levels are highest in Tewkesbury and Cheltenham, which are both higher than regional 
averages. Modelled data for PM10 at the lower super output area (LSOA) shows the highest 
estimated concentrations in Gloucestershire are in the Churchdown and Ashchurch areas of 
Tewkesbury and the west of Cheltenham.  

 Air quality levels for nitrogen dioxide at the LSOA level are within EU directive target levels. 
The highest estimated concentrations are in North Gloucester, Cheltenham and around 
Gloucestershire Airport.  

 16 NO2 monitoring sites across the county exceeded WHO recommendations. 11 of these 
sites are located in Cheltenham district, 4 were located in Gloucester and 1 is located in 
Cotswold at the Air Balloon Roundabout. 

 There are 8 air quality management areas (where national air quality targets are not being 
achieved) in Gloucestershire. The majority are located in urban areas or in the case of 
Cotswold at a major road junction (the Air Balloon junction, Birdlip) due to high vehicle 
emissions. 

Page 22



3 
 

 People with asthma and other pulmonary conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD) are particularly vulnerable to the impact from poor air quality. In 
Gloucestershire we have 42,000 people recorded as living with asthma, and over 11,000 
people known to be living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Poor air quality 
exacerbates acute episodes as well as long term management, which can lead to higher 
health and social care use. There is also data which suggests that those who are already 
reliant on adult social care also have a higher exposure to poor air quality. 

 Within Gloucestershire there are nine Lower Super Output Areas that exceed the 
recommended levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, of these 2 are in the most deprived 20% of the 
country in terms of indices of multiple deprivation. This is higher than expected, and 
suggests a disproportionate effect on the most deprived.  

 In Gloucestershire children (who are more vulnerable to the effects of poor air quality) also 
have higher levels of exposure than other age groups.  

 Gloucestershire has high rates of car use for travel to work compared to the rest of the UK. 
Even where journeys to work are less than two kilometres, a much lower proportion are 
made on foot or by bicycle than in the rest of the UK. Levels vary significantly within the 
county between rural and urban areas. In Cheltenham over 6% of commuter trips are made 
by bicycle, compared with the national average of 2%. 

Interventions to improve air quality 
 A review was undertaken by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence to 

highlight the key interventions amenable to action at the local level to improve air quality 
and/or to mitigate its impact on health. The focus of the evidence review was on air quality 
related to road use.  

 The principle intervention areas highlighted from the review are: planning (including 
transport planning); clean air and congestion charging zones; reducing emissions from public 
sector transport and vehicle fleets; smooth driving and speed reduction; active travel; and 
awareness raising (health promotion and health education). Table 1 is a summary of the key 
interventions and the strength of the evidence regarding their effectiveness. 

 The most cost-effective interventions were: integration of air quality in local planning 
decisions; low emission zones (restriction of heaviest polluting vehicles); changing to 
emission-controlled diesel or compressed natural gas; driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling); smoothing traffic flows through speed reductions; and specific interventions 
to support active travel. 

 Promotion of behaviour change to support improved air quality, should focus on: explaining 
what air pollution is; advice on how people can protect themselves; explanation of the 
health impacts; keep it local; promote understanding of how individuals can make a 
difference; and empower communities and promote leadership. 

 It is important that action is not limited to air pollution hot spots alone. Air pollutants and 
their sources are mobile so actions in one area may affect another – it is important not to 
simply move the problem to another community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



4 
 

Table 9: Summary of interventions to improve air quality or mitigate the impact on health 

Category Intervention Effectiveness Cost-
effectiveness 

Planning Include air pollution in local planning    
 

Road side barriers   

Street vegetation   

Bypass construction   

Clean air and congestion 
charging zones 

Low emission zones restricting certain 
classes of vehicle 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Infrastructure supporting use of zero 
and low-emission travel (e.g. charging 
points) 

  

Reducing emissions from 
public sector transport 
services and vehicle fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel 
or compressed natural gas 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling)  

  

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-
starting 

  

Smooth driving and speed 
reduction 

Individual traffic-calming measures  
 

 
 

Smoothing traffic flows through speed 
reductions 

  

Active travel Provide a choice of cycle routes 
including routes avoiding highly 
polluted roads 

  
 
 

Separate cycle routes from motor 
traffic and reduce time spent by 
cyclists in areas of high pollution 

  

Raising public awareness Providing evidence to the public    

Providing information to businesses   

Providing information to health 
professionals 

  

 

A red traffic light means this is not an effective/cost-effective intervention.  

An amber traffic light means the evidence is mixed, or that this may be an effective intervention but only in 

specific local circumstances.  

 

A green traffic light means that evidence suggests this is an effective/cost-effective intervention 

 

  

Page 24



5 
 

Multi-stakeholder Workshop on Air Quality and Health  
The Air Quality and Health impact assessment workshop was held on the 16th January 2018. The 

workshop aim was to review the relationship between air quality and health in Gloucestershire, in 

aid of developing approaches to improve local air quality and its impact on the population’s health. 

55 delegates attended from a variety of organisations and professions across Gloucestershire to 

provide a range of expertise and local knowledge. Attendees included individuals from Active 

Gloucestershire; NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; District Councils; 

Gloucestershire County Council; Gloucestershire wildlife trust; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Partnership; Public Health England; Highways England; Stagecoach; and University of 

Gloucestershire.  

The workshop was opened by the Chair of the Air Quality Member task group, Jeremy Hilton, and 

Nigel Riglar, Gloucestershire County Council Commissioning Director for Communities & 

Infrastructure. Attendees heard from Dr Adrian Davis, an independent consultant on public health 

and transport, before taking part in group discussion sessions to explore key themes. The event 

closed with Sarah Scott, Gloucestershire County Council Director of Public Health, summarising key 

feedback from the discussions.  

Workshop participants highlighted key areas for prioritisation in Gloucestershire, including:   

 Need for Leadership and Vision 

 Importance of partnership and collaboration in moving forward positively 

 Clean and accessible public transport 

 Strengthening of planning and transport policy 

 Need to engage and educate the public on air quality and health in Gloucestershire 

 Promotion of walking and cycling as a viable alternative to private cars 

 Support for increased use of electric vehicles 

 Improvements in monitoring and information sharing of air quality in Gloucestershire 

 Public sector and contractors to lead by example in terms of ‘cleaner’ fleets 
 

A summary of the workshop outputs is provided in the section on ‘Multi-stakeholder Workshop on 

Air Quality and Health’ on page 36.  

Recommendations from Air Quality and Health System Impact Assessment 
The recommendations from the air quality and health system impact assessment are based on a 

review of the outputs from the process: evidence of relationship between air quality and health; 

data and epidemiology review for Gloucestershire; evidence review of intervention to improve air 

quality and/or mitigate its impact on health; and the outputs from the multi-stakeholder workshop.  

Summaries of the sections from the health and system impact assessment were reviewed by a small 

group of officers from different departments in Gloucestershire County Council to agree key 

recommendations. The key recommendations respond to the issues and evidence raised in the 

health and system impact assessment. The following provides a short summary of the 

recommendations: 

Page 25



6 
 

Define a Gloucestershire strategy for air quality and health 

A strategy on air quality and health should be developed in the next 12 months by public and private 

bodies in a partnership approach. The County Council should facilitate a system wide approach 

through community leadership. 

Develop a model for partnership and collaboration to develop and oversee the agenda 

A model of partnership across private and public bodies needs to be established in the next six 

months to drive the development and delivery of the agenda, including the Gloucestershire strategy, 

for air quality and health in Gloucestershire. This group should report into the Gloucestershire 

Health and Wellbeing Board on strategy development and implementation. 

Promote clean and accessible public transport 

A review of interventions to accelerate the uptake of cleaner vehicles for public transport and taxis 

should be carried out, including the role of licensing policies and additional infrastructure 

requirements. The review group should also review accessibility to public transport and the 

specification of transport contracts. Recommendations should be made in respect of licensing 

policies and the specification of council-funded transport services. 

Strengthen air quality, health and active transport in planning and transport policies 

Planning and transport policies - and their operational use - at a local and county level should be 

reviewed, and frameworks developed to incorporate consideration of air quality and active travel 

into larger development proposals and highway schemes.   

The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan review should give greater recognition to the impact of 

transport on air quality and public health and set more ambitious targets for raising the proportion 

of trips made by sustainable and active travel. 

Engage and educate the public on air quality and health 

A campaign should be developed to make the public aware of the issue of air quality and health in 

Gloucestershire, and the positive actions that they can take to protect themselves and help to 

improve air quality. The promotion and engagement of the public on air quality and health should be 

targeted across the life course: schools; children/teenagers; working age adults; the elderly; hard to 

reach groups. 

Promotion of active travel and interventions to facilitate its uptake 

A programme of work should be established to promote the uptake of active travel in 

Gloucestershire. This work should engage the public, businesses, public sector, and schools in 

actions to improve active travel uptake. It should consider affordable ways of piloting 20mph zones 

and making changes to promote smoother traffic flow. This programme of work should link with 

other public health work which is already focusing on behaviour change to improve activity levels. 

e.g. Gloucestershire Moves. 

Support the uptake of electric vehicle use 

A group should be set up to explore opportunities to promote uptake of electric vehicles for both 

business and private use to coincide with investment to improve electric charging infrastructure. The 

group should also review options to incentivise electric vehicle uptake. 

Page 26



7 
 

Improve monitoring and information sharing of air quality in Gloucestershire 

A sub-group of the strategy group should be established to review deployment of air quality 

monitoring equipment to help improve understanding of air quality in Gloucestershire. The group 

should also make recommendations as to how air quality monitoring information can be shared with 

the general public in Gloucestershire so they can engage and respond to it in a timely way. 

Review public sector fleet/contractor fleets to reduce emissions 

Local public sector bodies should review their current in-house vehicle fleets and develop fleet 

replacement plans to make these cleaner. A group of public sector bodies should also review 

contracting arrangements with providers to understand how these can be used as a tool to reduce 

emissions from external contractors’ fleets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



8 
 

Introduction to Air Quality and Health 

Introduction 

Air quality and health impact assessment 
This review provides a summary overview of air quality and health in support of a Gloucestershire 

health impact assessment. A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) describes a systematic approach to 

understanding the impacts and opportunities in a project or proposal. This methodology is being 

used to help direct the development of a Gloucestershire wide approach to air quality and the 

impacts on the health of our population. The HIA will support: 

- exploration of the issue of air quality including its impact on health in Gloucestershire 

- review and summary of the evidence base regarding actions that can be taken to improve air 

quality and reduce its impact on the health of the population of Gloucestershire 

- prioritise actions to take forward and to build consensus 

The HIA requires a multi-stakeholder approach to ensure solutions are prioritised which will work for 

Gloucestershire, and to build support for taking a programme of work forward. The end result of the 

HIA is an evidence based work programme which has wide stakeholder support. 

Scope of the review 
This review forms part of the HIA. It provides broad background information for participants of the 

air quality and health workshop. It aims to give participants some basic information on the subject 

area, and to highlight the relevant evidence base.  

The review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, and the 

interventions to improve air quality or mitigate its impact on health at the local level. There is also a 

review of the data on air quality in Gloucestershire, relevant health outcomes, and associated 

information including levels of active travel.   

Whilst there are many types of air pollution, this review focuses on: particulate matter and nitrogen 

dioxide. These are the two principle pollutants affecting the health of the local population, and 

which are amenable to action at the local level.  

What is Air Quality?  
Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is pollution 

free from any chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural characteristics of the 

atmosphere1. The main sources of poor air quality in the UK are generated from transport, power 

generation and industrial combustion. The key air pollutants which are contribute to poor air quality 

are Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂), Particulate Matter (PM₂.₅, PM₁₀), Carbon Monoxide (CO), Carbon Dioxide 

(CO₂), Sulphur Dioxide (SO₂) and Low Level Ozone (O₃). At the local level, in the context of 

Gloucestershire, the key sources of poor air quality are nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 

These are also the most amenable to action at the local level, stemming principally from transport.  

                                                           
1
  Air pollution, World Health Organisation http://www.who.int/topics/air_pollution/en/ 

Page 28

http://www.who.int/topics/air_pollution/en/


9 
 

Particulate matter describes pollution which is mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets. PM₁₀s 

and PM₂.₅s (particles less than 10 and 2.5 micrometers in diameter respectively) are of most interest 

as they are fine inhalable particles which can be absorbed into the lung tissue, and for the smallest 

particles, into the blood stream. Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂) is the most notable of a group of gases 

referred to as nitrogen oxides (NOx), in terms of its impact on health. Nitrogen oxide is currently the 

main pollutant monitored in reference to air quality. Particulate matter is currently not being 

routinely monitored at the local level, however is considered a fundamental element in poor air 

quality standards.  

Why is air quality and its impact on health important? 
This review covers in detail the relationship between air quality and health, and also summarises 

some of the potential impacts at the local level. The World health Organisation has described air 

quality has been described as the greatest environmental threat facing the public’s health. In the 

United Kingdom poor air quality has been estimated to be responsible for as many as 40,000 

premature deaths2.  Additionally, it is estimated that there is a cost in terms of health care use of 

£16bn. This does not include the cost through lost productivity, which is estimated to be £2.7bn3. 

Policy and guidance 

Gloucestershire 

Through the Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance local authorities have a duty to 

investigate the levels of pollution within their area, with the most obvious method being to directly 

measure the levels of pollutant. If a monitoring area is likely to, or has breached the European 

commission air quality standards, the local authority has a legal obligation to declare an Air Quality 

Management area (AQMA). Local authorities are then required to produce an air quality action plan 

detailing the measures put in place to reduce pollution.  

National UK 

In 2017, the UK Government released an updated air quality plan/ policy with a focus on nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) emissions. This highlights where the UK is performing below our EU objectives, and 

sets out the approach to reduce emission levels in 29 of the 37 town and cities with non-compliant 

AQMAs to within statutory limits “in the soonest time possible”. Some of the key elements of the 

strategy include: development of clean air zones (for concentrated efforts); reduction of emissions 

from the current road transport; acceleration of road vehicle fleet turnover to cleaner vehicles; 

reduction of emissions from other forms of transport; reduction of industry emissions; and reduction 

of emissions from buildings and other stationary sources 

Role of Local Authorities 

Local authorities have a target to reduce local levels of NO₂ to comply with the European 
Commission air quality objectives. Unlike climate change gases NO2 pollution is local. The Local 
Authority controls several of the levers for improving air quality such as planning and transportation. 
They also have close partnerships with local stakeholders which are critical to help drive forward 
local positive actions. In 2017 the UK Government released a national framework with direction for 

                                                           
2
 Royal College of Physicians. Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution: Report of a working 

party. London: RCP, 2016 
3
 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2014), Valuing the Impacts of Air Quality on 

Productivity, DEFRA 

Page 29



10 
 

local authorities, and additional financial support, together with national level initiatives aimed at 
reducing emissions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



11 
 

Relationship between air quality and 
health: summary of the evidence 

Overview of approach to evidence review 

This review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, with the aim to 

describe the nature and extent of the impact of poor air quality on the health of people. The review 

focuses on two areas of air pollution which are particularly relevant to action at the local level, and 

where the highest related burden of disease is estimated: particulate matter; and nitrogen dioxide. 

The review draws mainly from other reviews of published evidence on the impacts of these 

pollutants on human health: The Lancet Commission on Pollution and Health (2017); Royal College 

of Physicians report: Every breath we take - the lifelong impact of air pollution (2016); DEFRA, PHE, 

and LGA report: Air quality – a briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017); the Committee on 

medical effects of air pollutants – statement on the evidence for the effects of nitrogen dioxide on 

health (2015); and World Health Organisation: Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution 

– REVIHAAP (2013). The review also references individual studies to evidence specific points, most of 

which are contained in the comprehensive reviews listed before.  

Page 31



12 
 

Impact of poor air quality 

Impact of poor air quality on disease and life expectancy  

There is a strong and improving evidence base of the impact of poor air quality on health in 
terms of the burden of disease and associated mortality. Estimates are normally based on 
the impact of PM₂.₅s (less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter) and/or nitrogen dioxide. The 
strongest evidence of impact comes from studies regarding PM₂.₅s, but evidence reviews 
are also suggestive of an independent impact from nitrogen dioxide4ʾ5ʾ6. The Royal College 
of Physicians (2016) estimates the combined premature mortality from poor air quality at 
40,000 deaths in the UK annually. Other estimates, suggest that there are 29,000 deaths 
from particulate matter pollution alone, with 340,000 life years lost annually3.  

There is no safe level of PM₂.₅ or NO₂. At all levels of exposure, both short and long term, 
there is a negative impact on a population’s health and life expectancy4. Air quality meeting 
the target levels set by the European Union for PM₂.₅ and N02 will still have a measurable 
impact on the health outcomes for a population.  

There is good evidence for a relationship between short and long term exposure to poor air quality 

and the development of cardiovascular and pulmonary conditions, as well as some cancers 3ʾ4ʾ5ʾ7. 

There is also an emerging evidence base for a relationship between poor air quality (mainly related 

to PM₂.₅) and the development of conditions of the central nervous system, and childhood 

developmental outcomes4ʾ 5. 

Poor air quality impact on health and social care  
The association between exposure to poor air quality and the development of pulmonary and 

cardiovascular disease results in reliance on health and social care support much earlier than would 

otherwise have been needed 8,4. This results in a substantial additional strain on health and social 

care resources, both in acute response, and providing care for conditions over many years. This 

results in a substantial resource burden on health and social care services (both publically and 

privately funded) over many years.  

Poor air quality relationship with other health stressors 
It is important that poor air quality is not viewed in isolation. It is a stressor on the health of a 

population, which interacts with other stressors, having a multiplying or co-determinant effect7,4. It 

may create susceptibility to disease in some populations, or help to accelerate the impact from other 

factors. It is also a source of inequality in populations, where those who are the most deprived are 

also the most likely to live in areas with the highest levels of exposure, and thus endure the worst 

                                                           
4
 COMMITTEE ON THE MEDICAL EFFECTS OF AIR POLLUTANTS. STATEMENT ON THE EVIDENCE FOR THE 

EFFECTS OF NITROGEN DIOXIDE. London: COMEAP, 2015 
5
 DEFRA, PHE, LGA. Air Quality: A Briefing for Directors of Public Health. London: DEFRA, 2017 

6 The Lancet. The Lancet Commission on pollution and health. London: Lancet, 2017. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency. "Integrated Science Assessment for Oxides of Nitrogen – 
Health Criteria." 2015. 

7
 World Health Organisation. Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution-REVIHAAP project: final 

technical report. Copenhagen: WHO - European Office, 2013 
8
 Royal College of Physicians. Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution: Report of a working 

party. London: RCP, 2016 

Page 32



13 
 

outcomes in a society, even though they may not themselves be substantial contributors to poor air 

quality 7, 910.  

Particulate matter and health 

Particulate matter and its impact on health 
PM₂.₅ is the most studied form of air pollution, and has the strongest evidence base for causality of 

premature mortality and poor health 7,  5, 6, 4. PM₂.₅ can be inhaled deep into the lung causing 

damage to the tissue, and the finest of these particles (PM0.1) can pass directly into a person’s blood 

stream 7, 4, 5, 6, which can have a direct impact on a person’s cardiovascular health. There is strong 

evidence of an independent link between exposure to PM₂.₅ and poor cardiovascular and pulmonary 

health7, 5, 6, 4, which in turn negatively impacts a person’s length and quality of life.  

The health impacts from PM₂.₅s can be divided into the effects from long term and short term 

exposure 7, 4, 5, 6,11. For short term exposures (ranging from hours to a few weeks), there is a strong 

relationship to the exacerbation of pre-existing respiratory conditions, particularly for asthma and 

chronic bronchitis. As a consequence there is a subsequent relationship with use of healthcare 

resources such as emergency admissions for these conditions. There is also strong relationship 

between short term exposures and myocardial infarction (heart attack) and myocardial ischemia 

(restriction of blood to the heart). Again, there is a subsequent relationship with increased 

healthcare use. Studies have also shown increased incidence of arrhythmias (irregular heart beat) 

and stroke.  

For longer term exposures (months to years) studies have shown an increased risk of coronary 

events including myocardial infarction and angina12, and a potentially related prevalence of 

atherosclerosis (build-up of plaque on inside of arteries). There has also been a strong relationship 

between long term exposure to PM₂.₅ and prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease13.  

There is an emerging evidence base, which is suggestive of a relationship between long term 

exposure to PM₂.₅ and poor childhood development and the development of conditions of the 

central nervous system such as Parkinson’s disease and Alzheimer’s. 4 

Particulate matter mechanisms of impact  
There are several mechanisms by which exposure to particulate matter causes poor health. 

Inhalation of the particles deep into lung tissue, and the damage and deterioration of the tissue has 

an impact of the development of pulmonary disease. Evidence suggests this occurs through a variety 

of mechanisms, including inflammatory response and oxidization due to free radical production, 

                                                           
9
 National Audit Office. Air Quality. London: NAO, 2017 

10
 Walker, D., Fairburn, J., Smith, G. and Mitchell, D. (2003). Environmental Quality and Social Deprivation. 

R&D Technical Report E2-067/1/TR. [online] Bristol. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291071/se2-067-1-tr-e-e.pdf 
11

 Cesaroni, et al. "Long term exposure to ambient air pollution and incidence of acute coronary events: 
prospective cohort study and meta-analysis in 11 European cohorts from the ESCAPE Project." BMJ (2014) 
12

 chest pain/pressure, normally due to obstruction or spasm of the coronary arteries 
13

 Term for a group of conditions which cause long term breathing difficulties. It includes emphysema and 
chronic bronchitis.  

Page 33



14 
 

both of which cause damage to the lung tissue14. Much of the cardiovascular disease associated with 

PM₂.₅s is believed to stem from a build up of plaque in the arteries which leads to narrowing and 

restriction of blood flow5 . There is a related increase in oxidative stress, endothelial15 dysfunction, 

and increased propensity for blood to coagulate. These are interrelated consequences which are 

believed to be the key mechanisms leading to cardiovascular disease.  

Nitrogen dioxide and health 

Nitrogen dioxide and its impact on health 
There is a growing evidence base for an independent impact from NO₂ on the development of 

poorer health outcomes and life expectancy 6; 5; 3. COMEAP’s (2015) review of the evidence base 

concludes that it is reasonable to say that NO₂ has an independent impact on health outcomes. A 

systematic review and meta-analysis suggests that the mortality from long term exposure to NO₂ is 

likely to be on a similar scale to PM₂.₅ 16.  

NO₂ exposure has impacts on health from both short and long term exposures  4,  7,  5,  3, 6. The 

evidence base is strongest for short term exposures and particularly the respiratory impacts. Short 

term exposure to NO₂ (from less than 1 hour to several days or weeks) shows a strong positive 

relationship to prevalence of respiratory conditions, particularly asthma in children, and associated 

exacerbation of respiratory conditions (strongest in asthmatics). There is also evidence of a 

relationship to prevalence of cardiovascular disease and outcomes, although this is not sufficient to 

infer causality17,3. 

Long term exposure to NO₂, whilst having a weaker evidence base than short term exposure, shows 

strong association to poorer health outcomes and some evidence of a direct causal relationship. On 

the balance of the evidence is likely that there is an independent causal effect on respiratory 

impacts. While the evidence is also suggestive of a similar relationship to cardiovascular disease, this 

is not currently strong enough to support an independent causal relationship 3, 6. 

Nitrogen dioxide mechanisms of impact 
The evidence base on human subjects suggests NO₂ exposure is related to effects on airways 

responsiveness (airway reactions to specific stimuli), affecting asthmatics more than non-asthmatics. 

There is evidence that exposure to NO₂ causes an inflammatory response in the lungs 18, 19, 20,21, and 

promotes an oxidative stress22 response in the lungs 23 which may cause damage to tissue.  

                                                           
14

 Xing, Y., Xu, Y., Shin, M. and Lian, Y. (2018). The impact of PM2.5 on the human respiratory system. Journal 
of Thoracic Disease, [online] (E69–E74). Available at: 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4740125/. 
15

 The inner lining of the blood vessel whose function helps ensure proper blood flow to and from the heart 
16 Faustini, A, R Rapp and F Forastiere. "Nitrogen dioxide and mortality: review and meta-analysis of long-term 

studies." Eur Respir J (2014): 744-753. 
17

 United States Environmental Protection Agency. "Integrated Science Assessment for Oxides of Nitrogen – 
Health Criteria." 2015 
18

 Devalia, J, et al. "Effect of nitrogen dioxide on synthesis of inflammatory cytokines expressed by human 
bronchial epithelial cells in vitro." Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (1993): 271–278  
19

 Blomberg, A and et al. "The inflammatory effects of 2 ppm NO2 on the airways of healthy subjects." 
American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine (1997): 418-42 

Page 34



15 
 

 

Air quality and health data in 
Gloucestershire 

Air quality data for Gloucestershire 

Modelled data  
DEFRA assesses air quality in the UK through a combination of monitoring and modelling. DEFRA has 

no monitoring sites in Gloucestershire so relies on modelling data which uses information about 

local sources of pollution and infrastructure to estimate levels of pollution.  

Current WHO Air Quality Guidelines levels for PM2.5 are set at 10 ugm-324. DEFRA estimates that in 

2015 the total annual mean PM2.5 concentration in Gloucestershire was below this level at 8.9 ugm-

3. Gloucestershire was also below the national average of 9.4 ugm-3 and in line with the regional 

average of 8.8 ugm-3.  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
20

 Ayyagari, V, A Januszkiewicz and J Nath. "Pro-inflammatory responses of human bronchial epithelial cells to 
acute nitrogen dioxide exposur." Toxicology (2004): 149–164 
21 Devlin RB, Horstman DP, Gerrity TR, Becker, S, et al. " Inflammatory response in humans exposed to 2.0 ppm 

nitrogen dioxide." Inhal Toxicol (1999): 89–109. 
 
22

 Oxidative stress is caused when antioxidant defenses in the body are not sufficient to counteract the free 

radicals produced in the body. Free radicals can damage cells.  
23 Johnston, C, G Oberdorster and J Finkelstein. "Recovery from oxidant-mediated lung injury: response of 

metallothionein, MIP-2, and MCP-1 to nitrogen dioxide, oxygen, and ozone exposures." Inhal Toxicol 
(2001): 689–702. 

 
24

 WHO Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide, World Health 
Organisation http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/69477/1/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pdf  

Page 35

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/69477/1/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pdf


16 
 

 

Figure 1:  Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015
25

 

The estimates suggest within Gloucestershire levels of PM2.5 are highest in Cheltenham and 

Tewkesbury where they exceed regional averages.  

 

 

Figure 2: Population weighted annual mean PM2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its districts
26

  

                                                           
25

 Modelled Background Pollution Data, Defra https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/pcm-data  
26

 Ibid. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015

South West England

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire  districts, 2015

Gloucestershire South West England

Page 36

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/pcm-data


17 
 

DEFRA also produces estimates of anthropogenic (originating from human activity) PM2.5, 

this is because estimates based on total PM2.5 might give a misleading impression of the scale 

of the potential influence of policy interventions. The estimates of anthropogenic PM2.5 

suggest that Gloucestershire in line with national averages and similar to the South West.  

 

Figure 3: Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its statistical 
neighbours

27
 

At district level Cheltenham and Tewkesbury had the highest levels of anthropogenic PM 2.5, with 

Gloucester also exceeding regional averages.  

                                                           
27

 Ibid. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015

South West England

Page 37



18 
 

 

Figure 4: Population weighted annual anthropogenic mean PM2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its districts
28

 

Estimates of particulate matter PM10 and nitrogen dioxide are also available for small areas (Lower 

Super Output Areas29). Figure 5 shows that in terms of PM10, levels are estimated to be at their 

highest in the Churchdown and Ashchurch areas of Tewkesbury and the west of Cheltenham.  

                                                           
28

 Ibid. 
29

 These are small areas based on Census 2011, and contain an average of 1,600 people. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 
concentration, Gloucestershire  districts, 2015 

Gloucestershire South West England

Page 38



19 
 

 

Figure 5: Modelled estimates of Particulate Matter (PM10)
30

 

Figure 6 shows that in terms of Nitrogen Dioxide, levels are estimated to be at their highest in North 

Gloucester, Cheltenham and around Gloucestershire Airport.  The current WHO Air Quality 

Guidelines levels for Nitrogen Dioxide are set at 40 ugm-3 meaning all Lower Super Output Areas in 

Gloucestershire meet recommended levels.  

                                                           
30

 CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah 

Page 39



20 
 

 

Figure 6: Modelled estimates of Nitrogen Dioxide
31

 

Monitoring air quality in Gloucestershire 
All Districts and Borough councils measure a background nitrogen dioxide level, which provides a 

general indicator of pollution levels at particular sites. Within Gloucestershire there are around 170 

monitoring sites (in some cases there are multiple monitoring sites in one location). There were 16 

sites across the county that exceed the WHO recommendations. The majority of these sites (11 of 

the 16) were located in Cheltenham district, 4 were located in Gloucester with the remaining site 

located in Cotswold at the Air Balloon Roundabout.  

                                                           
31

 Ibid. 

Page 40



21 
 

 

Figure 7: Results of Nitrogen Dioxide Diffusion Tubes, 2015
32

 

Air Quality Management Areas  
The aim of air quality monitoring is ensure that national air quality targets are achieved.  

When a local authority finds areas where the objectives are not likely to be achieved, it must declare 

an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) there. This area must be defined geographically however it 

could be just one or two streets, or it could be much bigger. The local authority must also develop a 

plan with remedial actions to bring pollution exceedance to within statutory levels. 

There are 8 AQMAs across Gloucestershire, where monitoring shows the sites do not meet the EU 

air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide.  The majority of AQMAs are located in major urban areas 

or in the case of Cotswold at a major road junction (the Air Balloon junction, Birdlip) due to high 

vehicle emissions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
32

 Sourced from district councils 

Page 41



22 
 

 

Table 1: AQMAs in Gloucestershire 
33

 

Local Authority AQMA Name Pollutants Date 

Declared 

Cheltenham Borough Council Cheltenham Whole Borough AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 18/11/2011 

Cotswold District Council Birdlip AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/04/2008 

Cotswold District Council Thames Street, Lechlade 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 02/04/2014 

Forest of Dean District Council Lydney AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 01/07/2010 

Gloucester City Council Barton Street AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/08/2005 

Gloucester City Council Priory Road AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/08/2005 

Gloucester City Council Painswick Road AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 05/10/2007 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Tewkesbury Town Centre AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 05/12/2008 

Air quality and health in Gloucestershire 
Exposure to poor air quality contributes to premature mortality. Based on national modelled data 

applied to Gloucestershire (not adjusted for attributes of Gloucestershire and the local population) 

exposure to particulate matter air pollution is estimated to contribute (as one of a number of 

factors) to around 278 deaths a year, representing a annually loss of 2,848 life years. These 

estimates are based on the research evidence of mortality risk, combined with modelled levels of 

the background air pollution to which populations are exposed at local authority level. 

Table 2: Local mortality burdens associated with particulate air pollution
34

 

  
Attributable deaths35 

Associated life years 
lost36  

Cheltenham 55 579 

Cotswold 42 405 

Forest of Dean 37 368 

Gloucester 52 575 

Stroud 53 497 

Tewkesbury 39 424 

Gloucestershire                                           278                                       2,848  

England                                     25,002                                  264,749  

 

                                                           
33

 AQMAs, DEFRA 
34

 Ibid. 
35 Attributable deaths- long term exposure to anthropogenic particulate air pollution is estimated to have an 

effect on mortality risks equivalent to the number of attributable deaths. Air pollution is likely to contribute a 

small amount to the deaths of a larger number of exposed individuals rather than being solely responsible for 

the number of deaths equivalent to the calculated figure 
36

 Associated life years lost - the years of life lost to the population due to increased mortality risk attributable 
to long term exposure to particulate air pollution 

Page 42



23 
 

Table 3 presents a comparison of deaths attributable to some other key risk factors in 

Gloucestershire. It is important to note that unlike the other indicators that are based on recorded 

mortality data for specific causes of death, the figures for air pollution are estimates of mortality 

attributable to a risk factor. Deaths are not individually attributed to air pollution, rather, air 

pollution is considered to be a contributory factor in many deaths. 

Table 3: Ranking of PHOF mortality indicator for Gloucestershire, 2014-16 and 2015 for indicator 3.01
37

 

Indicator 
Mortality rate per 

100,000 population 

Preventable mortality (4.03) 167.5 

Preventable cancer <75 (4.05ii) 68.4 

Preventable CVD <75 (4.04ii) 43.5 

Preventable Respiratory disease <75 (4.07ii) 15.3 

Preventable Liver disease <75 (4.06ii) 13.9 

Mortality attributable to PM2.5 <75 (3.01) 13.2 

Suicide rate Persons (4.10) 10.6 

Communicable diseases (4.08) 7.2 

 

Air pollution affects daily quality of life as it can exacerbate lung conditions such as Chronic 

Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and asthma, resulting in increased use of medications and 

hospital admissions38.   

In 2016/17 reported asthma prevalence in Gloucestershire (from primary care registers through the 

Quality Outcome Framework (QOF)) was 6.6% of the local population equating to around 42,300 

people. Asthma prevalence in Gloucestershire was higher than the national average of 5.9%39.   In 

2012/13 there were 517 hospital admissions for asthma. This equates to a rate of 0.84 per 1,000 

population which was lower than the national rate of 1.21 per 1,000 population40. Hospital 

admissions for asthma in people aged less than 19 years was 157.6 per 100,000 in 2015/16 which 

equates to 212 admissions. The rate is lower than the national average of 198.641.  

In 2016 there were estimated to be approximately 11,370 people in Gloucestershire with chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (from primary care registers through the Quality Outcome 

Framework (QOF)), this equates to a prevalence 1.8% in which was lower than the national average 

of 1.9%42. However, the local estimate is likely to be very conservative given the high number of 

undiagnosed COPD suffers. Gloucestershire had a lower rate of emergency hospital admissions for 

COPD (292 per 100,000) than the England average (411 per 100,000) in 2015/16, this equates to 

1,121 admissions. At district level Cotswold (180.3 per 100,000), Forest of Dean (253.7 per 100,000) 

                                                           
37

 PHOF and http://www.adph.org.uk/2017/03/air-quality-a-briefing-for-directors-of-public-health/   
38 Royal College of Physicians. Every Breath We Take: The Lifelong Impact of Air Pollution.; 2016. 
39

 GP Practice Profiles, Public Health England 
40

 Public Health Profiles 
41

 Ibid. 
42

 GP Practice Profiles, Public Health England.  

Page 43



24 
 

and Stroud (226 per 100,000) have better rates of hospital admissions for COPD than 

Gloucestershire, Cheltenham (348 per 100,000) and Gloucester (254 per 100,000) had worse rates, 

while Tewkesbury have a similar rate (267 per 100,000)43.  

Air quality and vulnerable populations in Gloucestershire 
The effects of air pollution are distributed unequally across the population. The more urban and 

congested areas have higher levels of pollution, as do areas near arterial and trunk roads. This, 

therefore, impacts on the health of those that live and work next to these areas. 

Deprivation 
Studies have suggested that the most deprived areas bear a disproportionate share of poor air 

quality. Within Gloucestershire there are 9 Lower Super Output Areas that contain monitoring sites 

that exceed the target levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, of these 2 are in the most deprived 20% areas. In 

Gloucestershire Lower Super Output Areas in the most deprived 20% of the country account for 22% 

of LSOA’s that exceed recommended levels and only 8% of the total LSOAs. This suggests that 

deprived populations in Gloucestershire bear a disproportionate impact of air pollution.  

Table 4:  Deprivation and monitoring sites that exceed the recommended level for Nitrogen Dioxide
44

 

  

LSOAs that have 
monitoring sites that 

exceed the recommended 
levels for Nitrogen Dioxide 

Total LSOAs 

Quintile 1 (most deprived 20% of the country) 22.2% 8.0% 

Quintile 2 33.3% 12.1% 

Quintile 3 22.2% 23.9% 

Quintile 4 11.1% 23.9% 

Quintile 5 (least deprived 20% of the country)  11.1% 32.2% 

Additionally, the most deprived 20% of LSOAs had higher air pollution levels than the least deprived 

neighbourhoods, with a difference of 1.4 ugm/3 in terms of nitrogen dioxide.  

Table 5: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by deprivation quintile
45

 

  
Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean (ugm/3) 

Quintile 1 (most deprived 20% of the country) 9.6 

Quintile 2 8.7 

Quintile 3 7.7 

Quintile 4 7.6 

Quintile 5 (least deprived 20% of the country)  8.2 

                                                           
43

 Public Health Profiles 
44

 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015, DCLG and data sourced from districts 
45

 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016, DCLG and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-
assets-and-hazards-ahah   

Page 44

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


25 
 

Car ownership 
Evidence suggests “communities that have access to fewest cars tend to suffer from the highest 

levels of air pollution, whereas those in which car ownership is greatest enjoy the cleanest air” and “ 

Those communities that are most polluted and which also emit the least pollution tend to be 

amongst the poorest in Britain”46. This is linked to the fact that in many places poor housing stock is 

located close to busy road networks, and occupied by more deprived communities. 

Within Gloucestershire there are 65 (17.4%) Lower Super Output Areas that have lower levels of car 

ownership than the national average. Of these areas 8 (89% of all monitoring sites) have monitoring 

sites that exceed the recommended levels of nitrogen dioxide. The modelled estimates show that in 

areas where car ownership is lower than national levels, pollution levels (from NO2) are higher.  

Table 6: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by car ownership
47

 

  

Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 
(ugm/3) 

Higher level of car ownership than nationally 7.8 

Lower level of car ownership than nationally 9.2 

  

Age  
Children tend to be more likely to live in areas where air pollution is high48, and also suffer some of 

the worst consequences. Table 7 shows levels of nitrogen dioxide are higher in areas in 

Gloucestershire that have a higher proportion of children (compared to national data), conversely 

levels of nitrogen dioxide are lower in areas that have a higher proportion of people aged 20+. 

Table 7: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by age
49

 

  

Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 
(ugm/3) 

Higher %  0-4 year olds than nationally 8.8 

Lower % of 0-4 year olds than nationally 7.7 

Higher %  5-19 year olds than nationally 8.4 

Lower % of 5-19 year olds than nationally 7.9 

Higher %  5-19 year olds than nationally 7.8 

Lower % of 5-19 year olds than nationally 8.7 

 

                                                           
46

 Mitchell, G. and Dorling, D. An environmental justice analysis of British air quality, Environment and Planning 
A 2003, volume 35, pages 909 – 929 http://www.dannydorling.org/wp-
content/files/dannydorling_publication_id1827.pdf 
47

 2011 Census and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah  
48

 Fecht, D. et al Associations between air pollution and socioeconomic characteristics, ethnicity and age 
profile of neighbourhoods in England and the Netherlands. Environmental Pollution, 2015; 198: 201. A 
summary of the article is available at: 
http://www3.imperial.ac.uk/newsandeventspggrp/imperialcollege/newssummary/news_26-1-2015-12-17-52 
49

 2016 Mid year estimates, ONS and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-
hazards-ahah 

Page 45

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


26 
 

Pre-existing conditions  
People with pre-existing conditions are more susceptible to the health effects of air pollution, 

particularly pulmonary and cardiovascular disease. Those with long term conditions often require 

increased levels of support from social care over a much longer period of time than a ‘healthy’ 

person. Table  shows levels of nitrogen dioxide are higher in areas where the rate of adult social care 

service users is higher than the county average.  

Table 8: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by Adult Social Care Service Users
50

 

  
Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 

(ugm/3) 

Higher rate of Adult Social Care Service Users  than the 
county average 8.1 

Lower rate of Adult Social Care Service Users than the 
county average 7.9 

Active travel in Gloucestershire 

Walking and cycling 
Switching journeys from cars to walking, cycling and public transport not only has a large beneficial 

impact on the individual’s health, but a wider benefit to the population health as there are 

corresponding decreases in overall air pollution levels. There are also subsequence impacts in term 

of health improvement from increased activity levels.  

Figure 6 shows that in 2011 76% of people travelled to work by car, which was higher than the 

national average of 66%. The Forest of Dean had the highest proportion of residents travelling to 

work by car (84%) closely followed by Stroud (83%), conversely Cheltenham had the lowest 

proportion of residents travelling to work by car at 64%.  

                                                           
50

 GCC Data and Analysis Team and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-
hazards-ahah  

Page 46

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


27 
 

 

Figure 6: Method of travel to work, 2011
51

 

Those making short car trips are a prime target area for switching to active travel or public 

transport52. Figure 7 shows that just over 50% commutes of less than 2km were made by bicycle or 

foot, while only 2.5% were made using public transport. This is much lower than the national 

average.  

                                                           
51

 2011 Census, ONS 
52

www.sustrans.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/files/publications/Short%20journeys%20big%20savings%202
3%20AUG.pdf 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury Gloucestershire England

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

ge
d

 1
6

+ 
in

 e
m

p
lo

o
ym

e
n

t
Method of travel to work

Bicycle or on foot Public transport Driving or Passenger in car or van Other

Page 47



28 
 

 

Figure 7: Travel to work method for journeys less than 2km
53

 

 

  

                                                           
53

 Ibid. 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

ge
d

 1
6

+ 
in

 e
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t

Journeys less than 2km  

Bicycle or foot Public transport

Page 48



29 
 

Air Quality Interventions  

This evidence review looks at the interventions to support improvements in air quality or to mitigate 

its impact on health. The review focuses on measures related to pollution from road traffic. The 

review uses a number of evidence resources, but draws most heavily on the NICE guidance relating 

to outdoor air quality and health.  

The review of interventions is divided into sub-sections: planning (including transport planning); 

clean air and congestion charging zones; reducing emissions from public sector transport and vehicle 

fleets; smooth driving and speed reduction; active travel; and awareness raising (health promotion 

and health education). Table 9 is a summary of the key interventions and the strength of the 

evidence regarding their effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. 

Table 9 : Summary of interventions to improve air quality or mitigate the impact on health 

Category Intervention Effectiveness Cost-
effectiveness 

Planning Include air pollution in local planning    
 

Road side barriers   

Street vegetation   

Bypass construction   

Clean air and congestion 
charging zones 

Low emission zones restricting certain 
classes of vehicle 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Infrastructure supporting use of zero 
and low-emission travel (e.g. charging 
points) 

  

Reducing emissions from 
public sector transport 
services and vehicle fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel 
or compressed natural gas 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling)  

  

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-
starting 

  

Smooth driving and speed 
reduction 

Individual traffic-calming measures  
 

 
 

Smoothing traffic flows through speed 
reductions 

  

Active travel Provide a choice of cycle routes 
including routes avoiding highly 
polluted roads 

  
 
 

Separate cycle routes from motor 
traffic and reduce time spent by 
cyclists in areas of high pollution 

  

Raising public awareness Providing evidence to the public    

Page 49



30 
 

Providing information to businesses   

Providing information to health 
professionals 

  

 

A red traffic light means this is not an effective/cost-effective intervention.  

An amber traffic light means the evidence is mixed, or that this may be an effective intervention but only in specific 

local circumstances.  

 

A green traffic light means that evidence suggests this is an effective/cost-effective intervention 

Planning  
Considering the impact of new buildings, facilities and estates, intervening at the planning stage is 

significantly more cost-effective than installing solutions retrospectively and so should be strongly 

considered. There is a good amount of evidence on planning to guide choice of interventions. 

Methods of including air pollution in local planning 
- Local plan and other strategic planning processes can include zero- and low-emission travel 

(cycling, walking, providing charge points for electric vehicles in workplaces, supporting car 
sharing schemes or car clubs) 

- Site and design new buildings, facilities and estates to reduce the need for motorised travel 
- Minimise exposure of vulnerable groups to air pollution by not siting buildings (including 

schools, nurseries and care homes) in areas where pollution levels will be high 
- Site living accommodation away from road sides 
- Avoid street and building configurations that encourage pollution to build up where people 

spend time (e.g. deep street canyons) 

Street vegetation 
Including landscape features such as trees and vegetation in open spaces or as “green” walls or roofs 

where this does not restrict ventilation is effective (evidence from one moderate quality and 2 low 

quality modelling studies). If vegetation does not interfere with airflow in a street canyon, e.g. green 

roofs or walls, then this may reduce air pollution. However this may be prohibitively expensive to 

install, depending on local circumstances. Street trees are unlikely to reduce air pollution in most 

street designs and could worsen it in some cases (for example if they reduce airflow). 

Roadside barriers 
This is complex and depends on a range of local factors. Structures such as buildings and other 

physical barriers will affect distribution of air pollutants (evidence from low quality studies). Solid 

noise barriers probably reduce air pollution in the immediate lee of the barrier but there are higher 

levels of pollution at some distance from the barrier. Impact on health will depend on the details of 

the dispersion of air pollution downwind from a roadside barrier and on where people live or spend 

time in relation to the barrier. Cost-effectiveness is uncertain due to data quality issues. 

Bypass construction 
There is only 1 low quality UK study so evidence around improving air quality is insufficient, and 

bypass construction is extremely expensive and applicable only in specific circumstances. 

Page 50



31 
 

Benefits of including air quality in planning 
- New developments do not exacerbate poor air quality or expose people to high levels of air 

pollution  
- Reduced risk of inadvertent exposure of people to poor air quality from redistribution of 

pollution 
- Appropriate use of trees to encourage deposition of air pollutants will also have benefits in 

reducing heat stress, providing shade and creating a more attractive environment 

Potential harms of including air quality in planning 
- Using trees in areas where they do reduce ventilation and so worsen air pollution 
- Using barriers in a way that creates poorer air quality 

Clean air zones 

A Clean Air Zone “defines an area where targeted action is taken to improve air quality and 
resources are prioritised and coordinated in order to shape the urban environment in a way 
that delivers improved health benefits and supports economic growth”54. There is a 
reasonable amount of evidence around use of clean air zones with over twenty five studies 
looking at the various aspects including low-emission zones, congestion charging zones, use 
of alternative fuels, traffic restrictions, changes to fuel used in public vehicle fleets, and 
driver training. All studies were of moderate or low quality.  

Low-emission zones (LEZs)/Congestion charging 
LEZs usually involve restrictions or charges on certain classes of vehicle (congestion charging). There 

is sufficient evidence (from 4 moderate-quality and 2 low-quality studies) to show reductions in 

pollution with low-emission zones, particularly with more stringent restrictions on vehicle classes.  

While existing low-emission zones have only slightly improved air quality, this is partly due to failure 

of new technology to reduce individual vehicle emissions under real driving conditions, and partly 

due to limited scope of existing low-emission zones (classes of vehicles restricted and failure to 

address overall volume of traffic). Several studies of traffic restrictions suggest that vehicle 

restrictions or bans have little impact unless they restrict the volume of traffic substantially. It would 

be important to monitor outside the zone to identify whether traffic is moving elsewhere.  

People living in more deprived areas are likely to be exposed to higher levels of air pollution and so 

could gain more from reductions; however they may be less likely to afford new vehicles and so 

might be disadvantaged by a charging scheme. This is also a potential impact of interventions 

designed to encourage low- and zero-emission travel, such as providing parking concessions for 

electric vehicles. 

Main benefits from congestion charging schemes came from changes to traffic flow, travel time 

savings and reductions in road injuries rather than from air pollution savings. 

                                                           
54 Joint Air Quality Unit. "Clean Air Zone Framework: Principles for setting up Clean Air Zones in England." 

gov.uk. Department for Transport and Food & Rural Affairs Department for Environment. May 2017.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications 

Page 51



32 
 

Large-scale schemes like city-wide clean air zones (that can include low emission zones) can be 

expensive to set up but can deliver substantial benefits. They also target a large population so the 

cost per head of the population is likely to be relatively low. After high set up costs, running costs are 

likely to be substantially lower and potentially covered by charges or fines. If ongoing income is then 

used for other activities to reduce air pollution then this is likely to encourage public support. 

Perceptions of charging schemes may be of income generation rather than reducing air pollution, or 

that restrictions may damage economic growth and activity and so emphasizing the public health 

benefit of the schemes would be important. 

Evidence from Amsterdam suggested an annual cost of around £2 per head for the low-emission 

zone. A clean air zone involving a range of interventions (including promoting zero- and low- 

emission travel) might be more expensive but is likely to have an additive positive effect. 

Support for zero- and low-emission travel (including active travel) 
This may include providing electric charging points; encouraging walking and cycling; and developing 

integrated public transport networks based on low emission vehicles. 

Fuel-efficient driving initiatives 
These may include “no vehicle idling” areas, and driver training to improve driving style and reduce 

emissions and fuel consumption. Two low-quality studies from the US looked at anti-idling 

information campaigns for bus drivers and suggested they would probably be effective at reducing 

idling time but this is likely to have limited applicability in the UK where there isn’t the same culture 

of large fleets of school buses. Driver training to improve driving style is addressed in the next 

section. 

Benefits of clean air zones 
- Discouraging use of the most polluting vehicles by restricting their access to some areas, or 

by encouraging zero- or low-emission travel, will improve air quality 
- Increased levels of physical activity from encouraging active travel 
- Reduction in health inequalities by reducing vulnerable groups’ exposure to poor air quality 

Potential harms of clean air zones 
- Approaches covering only limited classes of vehicles or geographical areas may not reduce 

emissions sufficiently or may move pollution elsewhere 
- People who depend on highly polluting vehicles or older vehicles that do not meet current 

emission standards may not be able to afford to replace them 

Reducing emissions from public sector transport services and vehicle 

fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel or compressed natural gas 
Some councils have retrofitted some or all of their vehicles to run on gas fuels (LPG, CNG or biogas) 

which emit as little as 1/30th of the particulate matter caused by diesel, and are cheaper to run as 

Page 52



33 
 

fuel costs are less 55. Four modelling studies (all of low quality) showed potential for considerable 

improvements in air quality from fuel changes if the penetration of technologies is large enough. 

Driver training 

Several aspects of driving can be improved to reduce emissions including: 

- reducing rapid accelerations and decelerations  

- correcting gear selection to improve fuel consumption 

- switching off engines when parked at roadside 

- vehicle maintenance: particularly maintaining correct tyre pressure 

There was expert advice given to the NICE committee that fuel consumption could be reduced by 

around 20-25% by adopting efficient driving techniques, with a realistic long-term reduction of 5-

10% however no studies had been found. 

Efficient driver training is likely to be cost saving. Training costs are estimated at a one-off cost of 

£25-£30 per driver with an annual fuel saving of around £96.  Views of those receiving training are 

important in determining the potential for success. Two low quality studies looked at the impact of 

information and training on driver behaviour and suggested that it may help to reduce fuel 

consumption and time spent idling. 

Procuring public sector vehicles 

Considering low emissions as criteria in procurement decisions is likely to be an effective and cost-

effective intervention. Changes to the vehicle fleet could be done as part of the usual turnover of 

vehicles. This recommendation was made by the NICE committee on the basis of expert advice. 

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-starting 

Amending bus routes to improve traffic flow and reduce stop-start driving did not have sufficient 

supporting evidence, and local factors would be particularly significant and this could involve 

considerable disruption. 

Benefits of reducing emissions from public sector vehicles 
- Increased knowledge about factors associated with fuel economy could result in lower fuel 

use and improved air quality 
- Energy-efficient driving with fewer rapid accelerations and decelerations will improve fuel 

consumption and reduce wear and tear on vehicles, leading to financial benefits; it would 
also reduce road danger 

- Training public sector staff may have the additional benefit of altering their driving habits 
outside work and making them a more general societal norm 

Smooth driving and speed reduction 
Interventions include: 

- Speed limits and average speed technology on road side 

                                                           
55

 Department for Environmental, Food & Rural Affairs. "Air Quality: a briefing for directors of public health." 
The Association of Directors of Public Health (UK). March 2017. www.adph.ogf.uk 

Page 53



34 
 

- 20mph limits without physical measures (to avoid unnecessary accelerations and 
decelerations) to reduce speeds in urban areas 

- Signs that display a driver’s current speed to reduce unnecessary accelerations 

- Physical traffic calming measures (e.g. speed bumps, pinch points) 

Two studies (one moderate quality, one low) showed that speed limits and enforcement on urban 

motorways have a small positive effect on PM10 and NO2 with emission reduction depending on the 

impact of speed management on traffic dynamics. The greater the reduction in congestion, the 

larger the reduction in emissions. Where traffic flow is not improved by changes to the speed limit, 

it is unlikely that air quality would improve. 

Economic modelling from Amsterdam suggested that reducing the speed limit from 100kph to 80kph 

on a section of motorway was highly cost effective at reducing air pollution (for every £1 invested 

they would expect £51 in economic benefits), depending on existing enforcement infrastructure and 

whether additional speed cameras are needed. 

Evidence around 20mph speed limits in relation to vehicle emissions is complex. Principally 20mph 

speed limits have been becoming increasingly popular in the UK for their impact on road traffic 

accidents. A review for the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham56, found evidence that in 

Germany when 30kmh zones were introduced in the 1980s, drivers changed gear 12% less often, 

braked 14% less often and required 12% less fuel. Results on emissions differ according to what is 

being measured – particulate emission (PM10 and PM2.5) is likely to be reduced while NO2 and CO2 

levels are unlikely to be affected either way by speed reduction. If driving style is smooth, then it 

seems that 20mph speed limits are not likely to worsen emissions57. 

However, driving style with greater braking, acceleration, deceleration and gear changes is likely to 

increase emissions (especially particulate matter). A UK modelling study looked at 9 traffic calming 

measures including road humps, pinch points, raised junctions, chicanes and mini-roundabouts. 

While there were uncertainties about the modelling, this and two other low-quality studies did 

support an increase in emissions associated with individual traffic-calming measures, although these 

were not seen in area-wide traffic calming measures. Therefore 20mph speed limit zones without 

traffic calming measures, and aimed at improving traffic flow with smooth driving, seem most likely 

to provide benefit. 

A modelling study suggested substantial benefits are possible from changes to the behaviour of a 

relatively small number of drivers, using wireless technology to identify optimum speed. Although 

this is not implementable at the moment, due to a lack of necessary technology in vehicles, a similar 

effect could be obtained by the expansion of variable speed limit control using signs outside the 

vehicle. 

                                                           
56

 London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 20mph Zones - Public Health summary of evidence. 

www.lbhf.gov.uk (accessed December 2017). 
McCoy D, Munro A, Stephan C, Grigg J. "Still failing to tackle air pollution." British Medical Journal 358 (August 
2017). 
 
57

 Imperial College London. "An evaluation of the estimated impacts on vehicle emissions of a 20mph speed 
restriction in central London." City of London. Transport and Environmental Analysis Group. April 2013. 
www.cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 54



35 
 

Benefits of traffic calming and speed reduction 
- Reducing stop-go driving will lower emissions of air pollutants from accelerations and 

decelerations, lowering exposure of the population to poor air quality 
- Reduced speeds in urban areas encourages walking and cycling (as cars travelling at high 

speeds will discourage these modes of active travel) which would reduce emissions of air 
pollutants 

- Reducing speed will reduce the number and severity of road injuries. 

Potential harms of traffic calming and speed reduction 
- Individual traffic-calming measures may increase rapid acceleration and deceleration driving 

and so increase emissions 
- On major roads where there are very few (or no) route choices the cost of using average 

speed cameras is likely to be small. However in areas like residential streets while there are 
possible benefits, implementation will be much more difficult due to the number of route 
options. Other measures (such as signs indicating current speed) may be more useful. 

Walking and cycling 
Supporting active travel (walking and cycling) is potentially a highly effective and cost-effective 

intervention with multiple knock-on benefits to health. 

Interventions which support cycling include:  
- Providing a choice of cycle routes including routes avoiding highly polluted roads and, if this 

is not possible, separating cycle routes from motor traffic and reducing time spent by cyclists 
in areas of high pollution  

- Where roads are busy, consider: 
o Providing as much space as possible between cyclist and motorised vehicles 
o Use dense foliage to screen cyclists from motor vehicles (uncertain evidence, and 

this also needs to take into account the importance of keeping cyclists visible to 
reduce risk of collisions and normalize cycling) 

o Reduce time cyclists spend at highly polluted sites, including junctions (as this has 
been shown to increase exposure to air pollutants) 

Dedicated cycle routes have been found to be effective in reducing exposure to air pollution. Six 

studies from the US, Netherlands, Canada and the UK found exposure to PM2.5 was lower on low 

traffic routes, and air pollution levels were reduced by increasing separation from traffic.  

Construction and maintenance of dedicated and separated cycle routes may entail additional costs, 

but these costs would be lower than constructing and maintaining vehicular roads. In the modelling 

by NICE, off-road cycle paths were the most cost-effective of all the interventions they looked at. In 

urban areas where specific paths are likely to be widely used, cost-benefit ratio was 1:14 (indicative 

costs in first year to total indicative benefits in the first year) with a cost per quality adjusted life year 

(QALY) gained of £5,075. This assumed that several routes are developed – a single route would cost 

less but may also be less effective as it would reach less of the population. 

Benefits of encouraging active travel 
- There is an additive impact with both reducing traffic-related air pollution and increasing 

physical activity with the resulting health benefits 
- Benefits to drivers from reducing congestion as well – one study suggested that exposure to 

air pollutants for drivers is as high as for cyclists and in fact air quality inside cars may be 
poorer than that outside 

Page 55



36 
 

- Perceptions of poor air quality put some people off cycling and so improving air quality will 
encourage more people to cycle and so further reduce air pollution. 

Potential harms of encouraging active travel 
- Increased collisions as a result of more cyclists if cycle routes are poorly designed 

Raising public awareness 
DEFRA 52 undertook qualitative research with the public to explore their understanding of air 

pollution in order to improve public communication. They identified six principles: 

A. Explain what air pollution is: what particulate matter is made of and where it goes 
B. Help people understand how they can protect themselves: don’t raise public concern 

unless you can satisfy the desire to do something to reduce their exposure 
C. Explain the health impacts: focus on what is known for certain about health consequences 
D. Make it local: talk about it as a problem linked to specific places 
E. Explain how individuals can make a difference: keep focus on actions people can take 

rather than long-term solutions 
F. Demonstrate leadership and empower communities, instead of just expecting individual 

behaviour change 
 

NICE also suggest considering giving businesses information on how they can reduce road-traffic-

related air pollution and improve fuel efficiency, e.g. helping drivers to develop an energy-efficient 

driving style; schedule deliveries to minimise congestion; encourage employees to cycle to work. 

Evidence is uncertain around the effectiveness of providing the public with information on how 

road-traffic-related air pollution affects their health and how their transport choices (e.g. driving 

during episodes of high pollution) contribute to this. However, many people do not understand the 

link between health and road-traffic-related air pollution and do not realize they can help reduce the 

pollution and their exposure to it through changes in their behaviour. For example there may be a 

lack of understanding that air pollution can be greater inside a car than outside. Without public 

understanding, it is difficult to get support for changes needed, and any changes are likely to be 

unsustainable. 

Equally the evidence is uncertain around making businesses aware of the need to reduce air 

pollution by encouraging active travel, more energy-efficient driving and scheduling deliveries to 

reduce congestion. 

Benefits of engaging the public 
- Help people, especially most vulnerable, to reduce their exposure especially when levels of 

pollution are high 
- Help people understand how to change their behaviour to reduce emissions and therefore 

reduce population-level exposure 
- Support the development of social networks which can be built on for benefits in other areas 

Potential harms of engaging the public 
- Actions to reduce the amount of polluted air from entering a home (such as closing 

windows) might increase indoor levels of air pollutants 
- Harm from unfounded concerns about the possible health effects of air pollutants 

Page 56



37 
 

Final thoughts 
- Evidence of air quality monitoring will be an important part of most large scale changes – 

before and after implementation. Currently traffic data for most roads is ad-hoc and low 
quality. 

- There is a risk that intended changes erode over time as drivers become used to the change 
and readjust their behaviours. Therefore continual monitoring and adjustments to schemes 
will be needed to ensure positive progressive effects are achieved. 

- Many small and highly localized interventions may be required with a cumulative effect. 
- Piecemeal, uncoordinated actions to tackle air pollution may make the situation worse, e.g. 

if different vehicle types are not classed in the same way in all clean air zones, then the 
overall impact will be diminished. 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Multi-stakeholder Workshop on Air 
Quality and Health 

Workshop overview 
The multi-stakeholder workshop took place in January 2018. The purpose of the workshop was to 

bring together stakeholders from a wide range of professions and organisations to discuss the issues 

and solution regarding air quality and health in Gloucestershire, and to help prioritise actions for the 

county.  

The workshop was attended by 55 delegates. Attendees came from organisations including: Active 

Gloucestershire; NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; District Councils; 

Gloucestershire County Council; Gloucestershire wildlife trust; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Partnership; Public Health England; Highways England; Stagecoach; and University of 

Gloucestershire.  

Delegates allocated to five discussion tables, which were balanced to ensure a range of organisations 

and professionals on each table. A number of ‘experts’ were also identified who could be called on 

by any table to contribute to discussions: Highways England; Local Enterprise Partnership; Public 

Health England; Independent Consultant in Health and Transport; Director of Public Health.  

Tables were allocated a facilitator, and were asked to identify a Chair Person to coordinate 

discussion and to feedback, and a scribe to agree and record key points. Each of the tables were 

asked to consider the questions in Box 1. 

Box 1: Workshop discussion questions 

 

 

 

 

5 tables 

Feedback from the tables was collated and reviewed by the Health and System Impact Assessment 

team (Dave Mc Conalogue, Phillip Williams, Rebecca McKenna, Laura Powick, Katherine Martin). Key 

themes under each of the workshop discussion questions are highlighted in the sections below.  

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse? 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air quality? 

What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air quality and reduce its 

impact on our health? 

What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in Gloucestershire? 

What are the top three changes your group would prioritise for Gloucestershire to improve 

air quality and/or reduce its impact on our health? 

Appendix B

Page 59



2 
 

Workshop discussion outputs 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse?  

 

 

 

Lack of focus on active travel 

Participants felt that there was not a strong focus on active travel in the county. They pointed out an 

underdeveloped cycle network that had substantial gaps which was undermining connectivity. They 

also highlighted that there was little promotion of active travel options to the public, and a lack of 

supporting infrastructure e.g. secure cycle storage etc. Participants spoke about active travel in 

terms of cycling rather than walking.  

No consideration of air quality in new developments 

Participants fed back that consideration of the impact on air quality and health did not feature 

strongly in planning review of new large developments. There was a policy and expertise gap to 

Figure 9:  Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are we doing in Gloucestershire to make air quality 

worse?’ 

 

Page 60



3 
 

ensure that developments included and were scrutinised on measures to positively impact air 

quality in Gloucestershire. They felt that there was little consideration across the county about how 

new developments connect with the wider infrastructure across housing, services, and employment. 

New developments were felt to often be sited ‘out of town’, with poor public transport access, 

which necessitated extra car travel.  

Lack of investment 

Most tables noted that there was little investment in improving air quality in Gloucestershire that 

they were aware of. It was felt that having a budget line to improve to support interventions to 

improve air quality was key to change.  

Infrastructure and traffic flow 

Some gaps in infrastructure were noted by the groups. There was particular attention given to the 

rail access and how this could be better connected to make it a more viable option for daily use. 

Other gaps were highlighted for further consideration: M5 junctions, and the A417 missing link.  

Most of the discussion in this thematic area focused on the necessary infrastructure to enable use of 

electric vehicles in the county. It was felt that there was limited and poorly distributed electric 

charging infrastructure, and that this would need to be evaluated and promoted before electric 

vehicle use could be a viable option for most people in Gloucestershire.  

Groups also highlighted giving better consideration to traffic flow when planning new developments 

and roads.  The scheduling of road works was also noted as a disruption to traffic flow and public 

transport. It was felt that consideration of the impact of road works on traffic flow could be an easy 

win.  

Public transport investment 

The need for more investment in Public Transport was a strong theme on most tables. Participants 

identified the need for fleet modernisation, to incorporate newer cleaner technology. They also 

highlighted Public Transport as the key alternative to car travel and a support for active travel. It was 

felt that a reducing bus service undermined accessibility to public transport particularly in rural 

areas.  

Awareness of the impact of poor air quality on health 

Participants felt that there was not a good understanding of the impact of poor air quality on health, 

and how exposure was impacting on their lives. Groups highlighted a lack of awareness across 

private and public organisations and professionals, as well as the general public.  

Lack of partnership and collaboration 

It was felt that there was not a unified approach across Gloucestershire. Where work was happening 

it was being developed by organisations or departments independently, without consideration of a 

wider picture. Several groups used the term ‘silo working’, and cited the need for a partnership 

approach across organisations. It was also noted that there was not a strategy to draw efforts 

together across the county.  

Page 61



4 
 

Parking policies undermining public transport and active travel 

Participants talked about the accessibility of Gloucester and Cheltenham to cars. They felt this was 

supported by inexpensive and accessible parking, which meant that car travel was often the most 

convenient and cheapest option for travel.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 62



5 
 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air 

quality? 

Figure 10: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to 

improve air quality?’  

 

The suggestions from participants in this section were a lot lighter, possibly highlighting that this was 

felt to an area in an early stage of development. A couple of themes emerged across the groups. 

Joint working across District and County 

Participants across the groups were very positive about the developing partnership between county 

and district levels of local authority. The joint core strategy for Gloucestershire was felt to be a major 

Page 63



6 
 

step forward in considering development across a wider footprint, and an opportunity to be more 

proactive in improving air quality.  

Monitoring of air quality 

There was an acknowledgement that monitoring of air quality was limited across the county, and 

only included nitrogen dioxide. However, there had recently been new investment in mobile air 

quality monitoring, which would give much more robust assessment of the quality of air in 

Gloucestershire 

Use of new technologies 

The use of smart technologies was commented on by several tables. It was felt that these presented 

good opportunities for people to make healthy choices and to aid behaviour change. However, it 

was also noted that there was much more development needed in this area to take advantage of the 

potential of such personal technologies.  

New technologies enabled monitoring devices to be attached to lampposts to record information 

which could be used to support awareness raising and behaviour change.  

Active travel support infrastructure 

There was some acknowledgement that Gloucestershire has some infrastructure to support active 

travel, but that this is often fragmented and inadequate in terms of volume and reach. Some of the 

interventions noted includes: bike racks; school active travel plans; cycle schemes; and GCC think 

travel coordinator.  

Other positive actions  

There were a range of other positive aspects raised, although most of these were only raised by one 

group: green infrastructure benchmark; enabling active communities programme; engagement with 

schools on air quality pilot; resident parkin zones (increasing use of park and ride); and investment in 

more fuel efficient bus vehicles 

.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



7 
 

 

What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air quality and 

reduce its impact on our health? 
 

 

Figure 11: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve 

air quality and reduce its impact on our health?’ 

Strategy and policy 

The strongest theme across all of the groups was the need to have a unifying strategy on air quality 

to drive change across Gloucestershire. It was felt that this needed to go beyond local authority and 

engage with the full spectrum of stakeholders in both public and private sectors, and the local 

Page 65



8 
 

community. A Gloucestershire strategy for air quality would give a necessary long term vision and 

approach to improving air quality in Gloucestershire. In addition to an overarching strategy for 

Gloucestershire, participants also noted the need for consideration of air quality in other policies, 

particularly regarding consideration of planning applications. This was also extended to budget 

commitments in local authorities which did not include any consideration of air quality.  

Participants also identified the need for policies in organisations around travel, parking and hot-

desking to try to encourage more sustainable forms of transport.  

Partnership and collaboration 

All groups referred to the importance of a collaborative approach to driving forward the air quality 

and health agenda. This was felt to be a weakness in the current approach, which was related to the  

lack of a joined up approach across the county. It was felt that the development of a strategy by a 

multi-stakeholder group was critical to the development of a collaborative approach. 

Planning policies 

All of the groups discussed the importance of changes to planning policy to better support 

consideration of air quality and its impact on health. Participants suggested a number of 

interventions to improve planning approach: incorporation of a validator checklist for all new large 

developments; health impact assessments for all new large development plans; policies to support 

incorporation of measures to mitigate any potential negative impacts at the planning stage; and 

policy to review traffic claiming/smooth driving measures in transport planning.  

Improvements to public transport and taxis 

All groups highlighted the importance of improvement to public transport to support a change away 

from car travel, and also as a major source of pollution. Making public transport more accessible to 

the population of Gloucestershire was seen as critical so that it can become a viable alternative to 

care travel. Groups noted the importance of changes to: cost of bus services; frequency of services; 

and the reach of services (particularly into rural areas). There was also strong support for 

improvements in the public transport and taxi fleet, to have vehicles which were more fuel efficient 

and polluted less.  

Groups also noted the importance of changes to taxi services, particularly around modernisation of 

the current fleet. One group discussed the role of taxi licensing to help incentivise ‘cleaner’ taxi fleet. 

Examples from Warwickshire and Stroud where licensing criteria includes strict vehicle emission 

standards were highlighted.  

Information and education 

Participants discussed the air quality monitoring information, which was felt to be sporadic in 

spread, and also not publically accessible. Better monitoring information is required to identify areas 

with poor air quality. It was also felt that this information could be used to drive forward 

interventions to tackle problem areas.  

There was strong support for making air quality data more accessible to the public so that they could 

become aware of air quality issues and make informed choices. It was also felt that this would be an 

important precursor to positive behaviour change in terms of protecting themselves from exposure 

to poor air quality, and to making choices to improve air quality. Related to this theme was the need 

Page 66



9 
 

to educate the public and organisations based in Gloucestershire on the issue of air quality, and its 

impact on health. Participants felt that the evidence was extremely compelling, but that most people 

were not aware of the issue or the impact on them personally and their communities, employees 

etc. 

Behaviour change  

Strongly related to ‘information and education’ participants discussed the importance of behaviour 

change initiatives. These were focused mainly on driver behaviour in private vehicles and also of 

business related transport. The emphasis being on how the individual drives to ensure smoother 

more fuel efficient driving which is related to lower emissions. The role of employers in supporting 

less travel was also noted. Groups noted the importance of home-working policies and hot-desking 

across sites (and even organisations) to reduce travel.  

Participants also noted the importance of behaviour change interventions to encourage uptake of 

active travel options (walking and cycling).  

Support for active travel 

All groups supported improvements to aid more active travel. The principle suggestions were around 

improvements to the cycle infrastructure; principally cycle routes and a joined up cycle network 

across the county. There was also support for promotion of cycling through events and initiatives to 

increase cycle to work. Groups also suggested a bike hire scheme similar to the ‘Boris bike’ scheme 

operating in London.  

Commitment to electric vehicles 

Most of the groups noted the importance of investment in infrastructure to support electric vehicles. 

Most notable was support for a wider electric vehicle charging network. There was also some 

support for initiatives to incentivise use of electric vehicles such as free parking, use of bus lanes etc. 

Schools 

Schools were highlighted as being a potential  area to direct interventions (working with pupils, 

administration and parents to improve behaviours) and also as a key source of pollution because of 

the associated travel with pupil attendance. School selection was discussed at length as this often 

requires travel across the county were pupils attend schools which are not close to their home. 

However, this is a national policy which canno0074 be addressed at the local level. Other ideas such 

as staggered school start times to reduce congestion and improve traffic flows was highlighted.  

Other 

A number of other areas were highlighted by participants: improving green infrastructure (e.g. more 

tree planting); clean are zones (banning most high polluting vehicles from some areas); and changing 

parking strategy (dis-incentivising care travel, and/or encouraging use of ‘cleaner’ vehicles).  

 

 

 

Page 67



10 
 

What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in 

Gloucestershire? 

 

Leadership and political will 

The strongest theme from the groups was the challenge of getting political buy in to the importance 

of air quality at the local level. It was felt that the Member-led task group was a very positive sign of 

political intent. Participants felt that leadership across private and public sectors was essential, as 

well as from the local community. It was also felt that at the moment leadership of this agenda was 

absent.  

Silo working 

Participants felt that a very strong partnership approach across private and public organisations, and 

with local communities, was essential to drive forward actions to improve air quality and reduce its 

Figure 12: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are the challenges and barriers to making positive 

changes in Gloucestershire?’  

Page 68



11 
 

impact on health. Partnerships and a collaborative approach have not yet been established. Groups 

felt that this would be critical to developing and delivering on an air quality and health strategy. 

Planning policies 

Planning policies and frameworks were felt to be weak on Air quality and health. As highlighted in 

previous feedback, participants felt that this area was key to delivering on improvements to air 

quality in Gloucestershire. One of the major challenges highlighted by participants was multiple 

layers of planning authorities in the county; a single tier for planning would make a joined up 

strategic approach much more viable.  

Public awareness and buy in 

Participants talked about the need for a change in mind-set across the county, which had to be led 

by the public. It was felt that the public were not aware of the issue of poor air quality and the 

impact on them personally and their community. The public have a key role in solving the issue of 

poor air quality, but needed information and education so they can become informed. Groups talked 

about the lack of champions on this theme in the public, but felt that this was critical.  

Private and public sector buy in  

Participants feedback that there was a lack of understanding among both private and public sector 

organisations of the commercial advantages of clean air and some of the interventions to deliver 

clean air (e.g. active travel). This is leading to a very short term immediate gains approach, which 

acts against improvements to air quality and the longer term health and wealth of the county. The 

short term view of development is also partially the result of the lack of strategy and vision for air 

quality and health for Gloucestershire.  

Active travel development 

Participants felt that active travel plans were key to any approach to improve air quality and reduce 

its impacts on the health of Gloucestershire. However, there was not a plan for a comprehensive 

cycling and walking network. The current cycle network was felt to be poor and underinvested, and 

would require substantial attention to make improvements.  

Resources/funding 

The challenge of resource allocation and funding was heighted by most groups as a key enabler. It 

was felt that the county is starting from a low base, with relatively low investment from both public 

and private n sources to support interventions to improve air quality. Participants feedback:  this 

area did not have a budget line in local authority budget allocations, which is potentially exacerbated 

by a focus on budget reduction rather than investment; there is limited staffing dedicated to support 

the air quality and health agenda in private and public organisations; and there is limited available 

expertise in air quality and health in Gloucestershire. 

Rural – urban split in Gloucestershire 

It was recognised by the groups that the combination of rurality and urban conurbations was a 

challenge in developing solutions. An approach that worked across both aspects of the county was 

required. It was also noted that Gloucestershire has a large geographical area, which provides a 

challenge for active travel.  

 

Page 69



12 
 

What are the top three changes your group would prioritise for 

Gloucestershire to improve air quality and/or reduce its impact on our 

health? 

 

Figure 13: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are the top three changes your group would prioritise 

for Gloucestershire to improve air quality and/or reduce its impact on our health? 

  

Page 70



13 
 

County wide strategy for air quality and health 

The need for a strategy to present a vision and approach to driving this agenda forward was strongly 

prioritised by all groups. It was felt that this could not be a local authority strategy, but rather had to 

embody a partnership/collaborative approach across public and private sectors and the public.  

Community ownership and awareness 

This was felt to be critical to driving forward change. Groups wanted engagement of the public on 

this issue to help change the mind-set from ‘car is king’ to more sustainable and healthy approaches. 

Getting community buy in and developing leadership was felt to be key to any approach described in 

the strategy. Giving people an understanding of the positive actions that they can take on a personal 

level and as a community to help tackle poor air quality and their exposure to it.  

It was felt that understanding and effectively communicating the evidence on the impact of poor air 

quality on health was key to any approach. 

Travel and connectivity 

Groups described the importance of public transport, active travel and electric cars to support 

‘cleaner’ travel. The key point was that there should be more consideration of connectivity between 

developments, so that ‘car-free’ or ‘clean’ travel was both convenient and affordable. Participants 

highlighted the need for more accessible public transport, which used new ‘cleaner’ technologies, 

which was affordable and reliable. There is also need for more investment in the active travel 

infrastructure. This includes dedicated cycle and walking routes, which enable travel between 

developments. The need for a joined up network for electric charging was seen as critical to enabling 

electric vehicles as a choice for transport.   

Partnership and collaboration 
Participants all talked about multi-organisational and professional collaboration and partnership to 

drive the agenda forward. This included pooling of resources and commitment across the private 

and public sector, and the community. They also requested an ongoing multi-stakeholder forum with 

a similar makeup and format to the workshop. There were suggestions that this could run annually 

or every 6 months.  

Strengthening the planning process 

Groups felt that planning processes should have include proper consideration and incentivisation of 

air quality and travel behaviour. It was felt that this would help to integrate good planning practice 

into all planning decisions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



14 
 

Summary Recommendations from Air 
Quality and Health System Impact 

Assessment 

Summary recommendations 
Table 10 summarises the key issues from the health and system impact assessment and makes 

corresponding recommendations. The issues and corresponding recommendations were identified 

by the health and system impact assessment team following review of the summary report sections.  

Table 10: Summary of key issues and recommendations from the air quality and health system 

impact assessment 

Issue highlighted  Recommendation 

Leadership and vision 

There is a lack of leadership and vision 
around air quality and health. It was felt by 
participants that a unifying vision for air 
quality and health across Gloucestershire for 
private and public bodies and the general 
public was required to move the agenda 
forward.  

A strategy on air quality and health should 
be developed in the next 12 months through 
the participation of a broad range of 
stakeholders across public and private 
bodies in a partnership approach. This is an 
opportunity for the County Council to 
facilitate a system wide approach through 
community leadership. 

Partnership and collaboration 

Work which contributes to improving air 
quality and mitigating its impact on health is 
happening, but in relative isolation. There 
needs to be a much greater emphasis on 
partnership and collaboration driving 
towards a united vision for Gloucestershire.  

A model of partnership across private and 
public bodies needs to be established in the 
next six months to drive the development 
and delivery of the agenda for air quality and 
health in Gloucestershire. The partnership 
approach should be used to develop the 
Gloucestershire air quality and health 
strategy, and to oversee its implementation, 
reporting into the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board on strategy 
development and implementation.  

Clean and accessible public transport 

Clean and accessible public transport use is 
critical to reducing reliance on private motor 
vehicle. Issues around accessibility to public 
transport were highlighted, particularly for 
more rural communities, as well as cost.  

The evidence review and the workshop also 
stressed the importance of modern and 
‘clean’ taxi and bus fleet. In particular 

As one of the work streams of the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health 
Strategy, a group should review 
interventions to accelerate the uptake of 
cleaner vehicles for public transport and 
taxis, including the role of licensing policies 
and additional infrastructure requirements.  

The group should also review accessibility to 
public transport and the specification of 

Page 72



15 
 

reviewing licensing policies for taxis to 
promote uptake of cleaner vehicles, and 
investment/funding for bus fleet 
improvements were highlighted.  

transport contracts to better understand the 
effects of stricter emissions standards on 
areas of poor air quality and any implications 
for accessibility. Recommendations should 
be made in respect of licensing policies and 
the specification of council-funded transport 
services. 

Planning and transport policy 

Planning and transport policies do not 
promote consideration of impacts on air 
quality of new schemes or developments. 
This is the most cost-effective intervention 
available at the local level to improve air 
quality, but is not currently being taken 
advantage of. This is also supportive of 
‘active travel’ interventions which is also a 
cost-effective area for investment.  

Planning and transport policies - and their 
operational use - at a local and county level 
should be reviewed, and frameworks 
developed to incorporate consideration of 
air quality and active travel into larger 
development proposals and highway 
schemes.   

The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 
review should give greater recognition to the 
impact of transport on air quality and public 
health and set more ambitious targets for 
raising the proportion of trips made by 
sustainable and active travel. 

Public awareness and engagement 

The public in Gloucestershire are not 
engaged in air quality and health. Even 
though it is their enthusiasm and action that 
will ultimately result in positive change. It 
was felt that they weren’t aware of the issue 
in Gloucestershire, or informed of the 
impact on their health. Additionally, the 
public were not educated on positive actions 
they can take to reduce their exposure to 
poor air quality, or to contribute to 
improving air quality.  

A campaign should be developed to make 
the public aware of the issue of air quality 
and health in Gloucestershire, and the 
positive actions that they can take to protect 
themselves and help to improve air quality. 
As part of this approach the public should 
have the opportunity to engage in the issue, 
and to lead interventions to improve air 
quality in their communities.  

The promotion and engagement of the 
public on air quality and health should be 
targeted across the life course: schools; 
children/teenagers; working age adults; and 
the elderly.  

Active travel (walking and cycling) 

Gloucestershire has low use of active travel 
(walking and cycling) compared to the rest of 
England, even for short trips. Replacing car 
use, particularly for commuting trips, with 
walking and cycling has a strong evidence 
base for improving air quality.  

A programme of work should be established 
to promote the uptake of active travel in 
Gloucestershire. This work should engage 
the public, businesses, public sector, and 
schools in actions to improve active travel 
uptake. It should consider affordable ways of 
piloting 20mph zones and making changes to 
promote smoother traffic flow, as a means 
to improving health outcomes and reduce 
pollution. This programme of work should 
link with other public health work which is 

Page 73



16 
 

already focusing on behaviour change to 
improve activity levels. e.g. Gloucestershire 
Move.  

Support for electric vehicle use 

Supporting infrastructure and incentivisation 
of electric vehicle use is largely absent in 
Gloucestershire. The evidence suggests that 
electric vehicles can be a key intervention to 
reduce vehicle pollution, but this is currently 
not supported in Gloucestershire. The 
charging infrastructure is sporadic and 
poorly advertised, and there is limited 
incentivisation for electric vehicle use.  

The Gloucestershire County Council budget 
allocation for electric vehicle infrastructure 
represents a unique and major opportunity 
to promote electric vehicle use.  

A strategy sub-group should be set up to 
explore opportunities to promote uptake of 
electric vehicles for both business and 
private use to coincide with the improving 
electric charging infrastructure.  

The groups should also review options to 
incentivise electric vehicle uptake.  

Monitoring of air quality in Gloucestershire 

There is relatively little known about air 
quality in the county. This is mainly due to 
limited coverage of air quality monitoring. 
There is also very little information available 
to the public on air quality in 
Gloucestershire, particularly in ‘real time’. 
The public’s timely access to air quality 
monitoring data is key to how they adapt 
their behaviour to protect themselves from 
exposure, and to take positive action to 
improve air quality.  

Additional mesh pod air quality monitoring 
equipment has been purchased for use in 3 
areas of Gloucester. These measure gases 
and particulates including PM2.5.  

A sub-group of the strategy group should be 
established to review deployment of air 
quality monitoring equipment to other 
districts to help improve understanding of 
air quality in Gloucestershire. The group 
should also make recommendations as to 
how air quality monitoring information can 
be shared with the general public in 
Gloucestershire so they can engage and 
respond to it in a timely way. 

Public sector fleet/contractor fleets 

Public sector vehicle fleets are a key 
opportunity to ‘lead’ by example in terms of 
switching from diesel to cleaner fleet 
vehicles. There are also a substantial number 
of contracts from public sector bodies locally 
(County Council, Districts, and NHS) which 
include transport and delivery services, 
many of which may not be using the cleanest 
options for fleet.   

Public sector bodies should review their 
current in-house vehicle fleets and develop 
fleet replacement plans to make these 
cleaner. A group of public sector bodies 
should also review contracting arrangements 
with providers to understand how these can 
be used as a tool to reduce emissions from 
external contractors’ fleets.  

 

 

 

Page 74



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDERS

Measures to address the backlog of applications for 
Modification Orders to the Definitive Map.

Meeting Date: 9th May 2018

Chairman: Councillor Rob Bird

Presenting Officer: Liz Kirkham

Purpose of Report: To outline the current resource allocated to the backlog, and 
identify what improvement measures might be required to meet 
future statutory deadlines and timescales.

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

Rights of Way Improvements Plan

Appendices n/a

Recommendations To support the recommendations as set out in section 5 of the 
report.

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



1. Background

1.1 At Full Council on 14 February 2018, an amendment to the 2018-19 budget 
was proposed to allocate £50,000 revenue recurring to fund an additional 
member of staff to help to deal with the backlog  of applications for rights of 
way modification orders. 

1.2 The amendment was not supported, however the Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure agreed to investigate the issues, including 
timescales and officer capacity, and report back to the Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee on 9 May 2018.

2 Definitive Map Modification Orders 

2.1 The Definitive Map is the legal record of all known public rights of way in the 
county.  An accompanying document, the Definitive Statement, records the 
particulars of each path. Further details are given in Appendix A.

2.2 The Definitive Map is a living document that is subject to change as routes are 
added, deleted or changed in status or position.  Paths may be diverted or 
extinguished by a Public Path Order, where change is made in either the 
landowner’s or the public’s interest.  Paths may be added, deleted or their 
status changed by a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO).

2.3 It is possible to apply for a Modification Order to change the Definitive Map 
and Statement of public rights of way.  Such an application has to be made on 
the basis of evidence that the map should be amended.  Public rights may 
exist over a route not shown on the map or higher rights may exist over a 
route which is already shown.  On the other hand, rights may be shown which 
have been recorded in error.

2.4 It is a statutory duty (rather than a power) under Section 53 of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1953 for Councils to investigate such claims. We cannot 
charge for this service.

3 2026 Deadline and Deregulation Act 2015

3.1 The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 provides for a cut-off 
date of 1st January 2026 for recording certain rights of way. This deadline 
applies to applications which are based solely on historic documentary 
evidence (rather than those with recorded and ongoing use)

3.2 The Deregulation Act 2015 includes measures which will allow us to deal with 
particular applications in a more streamlined manner; however, it does also 
increase the burden for Councils in respect of timescales and noticing/ 
consultations.  The sections of the Act which will give us those powers have 
not been commenced yet. 

3.3 There is also provision within The Deregulation Act 2015, as yet not 
commenced, for applicants to take us to Magistrates’ Court if we have not (a) 
completed the Preliminary Assessment test within 3 months, (b) determined 
their applications within 12 months.  The penalty for non-determination has not 
yet been defined, but early indications suggest it will be in the form of a fine 
and/or direction to determine within a set timescale, as well as costs.  There is 

Page 76



also an expectation that Councils will investigate whether a Modification 
Consent Order is applicable (to also be completed within 12 months), which 
would therefore have to run concurrently with any DMMO research.

3.4 There is currently no proposed similar deadline for dealing with applications 
post determination.

4 Current backlog and recent progress

4.1 There are currently 117 applications for DMMOs which are waiting to be 
resolved. The application process is split into different stages, and the 
following table shows a breakdown of the applications at the different stages. 
It also highlights those undetermined applications which are more than 12 
months old. 

Applications Undetermined Determined
waiting for next stage

Over 12 months old 77 36

Under 12 months 4 0
Total 81 36

4.2 Officers have contacted other authorities and identified that Gloucestershire is 
not alone in experiencing a DMMO application backlog of this magnitude. 

4.3 In 2014 it was agreed to allocate more resource to the team dealing with these 
applications. Since that team was established in 2015, progress has been 
good, with 27 applications fully resolved over the period (i.e. approx. 9 a year). 
We have introduced an Internal Officer Panel to consider particular types of 
application. We also encourage applicants to look for alternative ways to 
resolve applications through less resource intensive methods. 

4.4 If no more applications were received, the current resource would be sufficient 
to reduce the backlog by half,  by 2026 (the CROW cut off date). If the 
relevant sections of the Deregulation Act are commenced, and no more 
applications are received, the additional powers, coupled with the current 
resource would be sufficient to clear the backlog entirely by 2026.

4.5 However, we are receiving new applications on a regular basis, and it is 
anticipated that the rate of new applications will increase considerably as the 
2026 deadline approaches.  We are aware that some parish and town 
councils, and some user organisations such as the British Horse Society and 
the Ramblers Association, are preparing to submit potentially significant 
numbers of applications in advance of the deadline.  For example, Stroud 
Town Council alone has suggested interest claiming over 100 currently 
unrecorded routes. 

4.6 It may be appropriate to consider creating an outreach post, to work 
proactively with these external organisations in order to manage the potential 
demand, smooth out work loads, and where appropriate direct those 
organisations to alternative remedies that may be more suitable and/or be less 
resource intensive than the DMMO application process. 

Page 77



4.7 Once applications have been through the Determination phase, orders can be 
made to implement the necessary changes; however, these are often subject 
to objections. If we cannot resolve those objections, then applications have to 
be submitted to the Secretary of State. We in effect have two backlogs, one 
pre-determination and one post determination. The most pressing need is to 
reduce the backlog of undetermined applications as we can be taken to 
Magistrates’ Court for this, but we also need to be giving consideration to 
providing a resource to address determined applications going through Public 
Inquiries. 

5 Summary and Recommendation

5.1 The current resource allocated to the DMMO team is currently adequate, and 
with the commencement of the relevant legislation, would be sufficient to 
reduce the backlog by the 2026 deadline. However there is a risk that some 
applications may not be determined within the stipulated 12 month 
determination deadline. The current resource would also not be sufficient to 
process any increase in applications leading up to the deadline. Given the 
other immediate priorities of the council, uncertainty about the timing of the 
enactment of provisions within the Deregulation Act and uncertainty about the 
timing and scale of future DMMO applications, it is important that resources 
are provided at the right time, not too late but also not too early.

5.2 It is recommended that the numbers of applications continue to be monitored; 
that the existing team continues to explore ways of moving applications 
through the process in a timely manner; and that the Director investigates 
potential funding for a fixed term outreach post to liaise with and proactively 
manage demand from affected organisations and identify options and 
resources required for managing applications ‘post-determination’ (including 
costs of Public Inquiries).

5.3 Progress will be reported at future committee meetings through the Director’s 
update report.

Page 78



1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, 
Registration Service, Coroner Service and Civil Protection Team. 

Date of meeting 9 May 2018

Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision.    

1. Fire and Rescue Service
1.1 Performance Monitoring Report
GFRS has now completed the new Performance Hub on the Service’s intranet following the 
recently revised KPI’s and LPI’s. This hub will enable teams to enter data and increase 
responsibility and accountability for team and Service performance. It will also ensure that 
any data used is consistent across the Service.

1.2 People and Organisational Development Strategy 2018-2023
The GFRS People and Organisational Development Strategy 2018-2023 is due to be 
launched on 1 April 2018. The strategy includes the Safer Firefighter Programme which is 
designed to ensure that all operational staff continue to develop their safety critical 
emergency response skills.

1.3 Corporate Risk Register Review
The corporate risk register has been reviewed looking at both current and emerging risks. 
These include the HMICFRS inspection planned for spring 2018 and the Emergency 
Services Network. It was considered that there is a requirement for a new risk category 
relating to the HMICFRS inspection as the consequence of receiving a less that good score 
may have an adverse impact on the Service. Ratings for each of the risks have been 
approved and have been published.

1.4 Capital Procurement Plan
The Capital Procurement Plan up to 2023 (5 years) has been developed by GFRS. Specific 
items include funding for:

 Replacement fire engines and light vehicles.
 Software upgrade for Fire Control to ensure it continues to function with resilience.
 A replacement aerial appliance.
 Replacement and upgrade of existing firefighter personal protective equipment.

All this will form part of the ongoing strategic replacement programme of assets within the 
Service.

1.5 HMICFRS Inspection Programme
The fire and rescue services inspection programme and framework 2018/19 has been 
approved by the Home Secretary, meaning that the HMICFRS inspection powers have now 
come into force. This inspection approach has been a collaborative effort and is the result of 
close co-operation between the fire and rescue services and the HMICFRS inspection team. 
The approved framework is being piloted across the three Services (Suffolk, Staffordshire 
and West Yorkshire), informing and developing future methodology. Feedback from the 
pilots will be provided at the Chiefs and Chairs conference in May 2018 which will also see 
the launch of the final methodology and judgment criteria. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



2

The GFRS Service Liaison Lead (SLL) has now been appointed; Phil Cox is a retired Area 
Manager from Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service. He visited GFRS during March 2018, 
meeting the Chief, members of SLT and some of the internal HMICFRS team. 

The Service recently attended a HMICFRS data collection workshop, the event provided 
information on the potential collection timescales and provided examples of data that we 
would need to supply. Data has been requested from all Services and at intervals throughout 
this year and into next year, the first request has been received and a response is required 
by 1 May 2018. HMICFRS will also be collecting data from the Home Office and CIPFA, to 
support the principal inspection questions. 

In-line with the HMICFRS communications strategy regular monthly updates via email, Staff 
hub and PRIME have been communicated to all staff. The HMICFRS roadshow awareness 
package is currently being delivered to all stations and teams across the Service, including 
staff at Shire Hall that facilitate and manage our shared services. The roadshows are due to 
completed by the end of May, where feedback and staff involvement will help to inform the 
gap analysis document.

A two day engagement visit with our SLL has been booked for the 29 and 30 May 2018, 
during the two days a number of key activities has been requested and a draft itinerary has 
been produced and circulated in order to facilitate his visit. 

1.6 PFI Insurance Savings
Insurance savings have been identified across all five PFI premises through effective use of 
the relationship between the Service and PFI suppliers and in accordance with the contract. 
This has led to significant insurance cost savings that will be used to reduce the equalisation 
fund.

1.7 Equality and Diversity Forum
An Equality and Diversity Forum has been proposed with the aim of supporting under-
represented groups within the Service and to improve recruitment in this area. The forum will 
help to improve the Services ability for its workforce to reflect our diverse community. The 
additional benefits associated with this Forum will compliment, inform, focus and support 
GFRS’s existing equality strategy.

2. Registration Services

2.1 Registration Service Merger with Libraries
From 1 April 2018, Registration Services will merge with libraries and come under one head 
of service. Jane Everiss, who is currently Head of Libraries, will take on the new role of Head 
of Libraries and Registration.

Report Ends

Stewart Edgar
Chief Fire Officer

Page 80



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

9th May 2018

Commissioning Director’s Report (Draft approved by LCs)

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  

1.1 Relevant Cabinet/ Cabinet Member/ Council decisions:
 Adoption of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Integrated Risk 

Management Plan (IRMP) 2018 – 21 (Cabinet, Apr)
 Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) – Llanthony Road Improvements 

(Cabinet, Apr)
 Waste Transfer Services Procurement (Cabinet, Apr)
 A417 Missing Link – Highways England Consultation (Cabinet, Mar)
 A417 Missing Link – Highways England Consultation (Cabinet Member – 

Economy, Skills and Growth, Mar)

2 Highway and Transport Authority
2.1 Highway Maintenance
2.1.1 Highways Contract (update)

 The new Structural Maintenance (SM) contract was awarded to Tarmac.  The 
Term Maintenance Contract (TMC) went out as planned on the 30th November 
and the SM contract a week later.  

 The TMC has been through the pre-qualification procurement stages and five 
bidders have been invited to submit tenders (Balfour Beatty, Griffiths, Ringway, 
Skanska and Volker Highways).  Tenders will be returned on the 23rd April with a 
shortlist of three bidders determined by mid-May.  Following a competitive 
negotiation phase final tenders will be submitted in July and a decision made in 
September 2018.

 Cabinet Panel (cross-party) met in February and scrutinised the evaluation 
process for the procurement.

 A Members Highways briefing was given in the Council Chamber on the 22nd 
March covering the breakdown of the £150m investment programme, an update 
on the Highways contract procurements and an update on major schemes 
delivery.

 The winter has delivered twice as many salting runs (freeze/thaw days) 
compared to the five year average.  This has resulted in a sharp increase in 
safety defects particularly in urgent 24 hour and next working day repairs.  Amey 
has put significant additional resources into defect repairs including 3 extra gangs 
and 2 jet patching machines as well as carrying out weekend working.  February 
and March defect results are likely to show the significant increase in defect 
numbers and Amey are predicting that repaired on time percentages will drop 
significantly below target.  The Council has also authorised an additional £1m of 
patching works which will begin to be delivered in April and May to assist with the 
backlog.

 The Council has received an additional £1.98m of Pothole Repair funds from the 
Department for Transport (DfT).  Officers will be commissioning additional 
resurfacing and patching works for delivery later in the year.

Page 81

Agenda Item 7

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1097
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1097
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1100
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1094
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1087
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1087


2.1.2 Highways Local (update)
 Currently 78% of 2017/18 Highways Local schemes have been delivered.  Due to 

elections in May 2017 the date for members confirming works was delayed until 
later summer and the delivery window moved to June 2018.  Anticipation is that 
the vast majority of the remaining schemes are planned for the 1st quarter of 
2018/19.

2.1.3 Lengthsmen (update)
 The Lengthsmen programme will start in May as gangs are currently working on 

defect repairs and will continue to be needed to assist in catching up with the 
backlog of defects from this winter.

2.1.4 Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs, update)
 TROs for 2016/17 are now all complete. 
 2017/18 TRO budget (£100k agreed at Council) – four schemes have been 

successfully scored in priority assessment:
o Wotton under Edge Parking Restriction Package – Formal consultation 

complete and considering objections before a decision can be made on 
how the scheme can progress.

o Cheltenham Parking Restrictions Package – Statutory Consultation is 
complete and Formal Consultation currently underway with deadline for 
comments 2nd March 2018.

o Gloucester Restricted Parking Zone – Informal and statutory consultation is 
complete; formal consultation is planned for May 2018.  

o Gloucester Prohibition of Driving – Informal and statutory consultation is 
complete; formal consultation is planned for May 2018.  

 A list has been compiled of all TRO’s (including hump notices and development 
funded TROs) that are ongoing.  This list is updated monthly and is available on 
the Council’s website; http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/tros.

2.1.5 LED Street Lighting Project (update)
 A programme of works for 2018/19 is being developed and will be shared with 

members.  The programme is more complex this year as the remaining 
conversions are spread across the County with only the main traffic routes and 
remaining heritage or difficult conversions (wall mounted and wood pole mounted 
specialists brackets) left to convert.

2.2 Highway Useage
2.2.1 Network Management

 Asset Management (no change)
o An Annual Report is produced retrospectively outlining Asset Management 

activities around Highways Maintenance.  The latest version covering 
2016/17 is now available on the County Council’s website and can be 
viewed here.

o The Transport Asset Management Plan is available on the website in a 
chapter by chapter format to allow for a gradual updating of the Plan.  It 
can be viewed here.

 Parking (no change)
o Cheltenham West – Feedback from the implementation of the West End 

and Lansdown zones has been largely positive. In the Railway zone 
officers are monitoring parking and exploring options to manage parking 
displacement.

o Publicly accessible ParkMap system to go live shortly, significantly 
improving public self- service through online access to parking information.

Page 82

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/tros
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2153/highways-annual-asset-management-report-2017-r1.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/transport-asset-management-plan-tamp/


 Road Safety (update)
o A guide explaining the changes in Road Safety and where to go for support 

and information has been published in Members Matters.  Work is 
underway to recruit to a ThinkTravel post to support active travel, the 
Council’s Travel Plan and to oversee school travel plans.

 Air Quality (update)
o The Air Quality and Health Task Group has concluded its review of 

evidence from the workshop and other studies.  A report with its findings 
and recommendations is being considered at the May meeting of 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee.

o In response to a High Court ruling in February 2018, DEFRA has issued a 
direction to 33 towns and cities in England where air quality levels do not 
meet EU legal limits for Nitrogen Dioxide.  It has given them until 31st July 
2018 to respond with proposals to comply with these limits within the 
shortest possible timescale.  Cheltenham is the only Gloucestershire 
authority directly affected.  Officers from the County and Borough Councils 
are liaising with each other to seek a coordinated the response. 

2.2.2 Cheltenham Transport Plan (update)
 Phase three (Royal Well) – construction was 90% completed in January.  Cold 

temperatures have delayed the installation of a run-over island.  Awaiting 
confirmation of a date for the installation of the remaining island following Gold 
Cup week.  Monitoring for Phase 3 was undertaken in late February/ early March. 
A review of the data is to be undertaken in late March once received.

 Phase four (Boots Corner Closure) – subject to satisfactory monitoring results, 
the trial closure of Boots Corner under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
will commence on 5th June 2018.  Boots Corner and surrounding roads (Clarence 
Parade, Clarence Street, Pittville Street, Promenade, and Imperial Circus) will 
become bus lanes, with various exemptions including taxis and servicing 
between 6pm and 10am.  The experimental TRO will run for an initial 10 month 
period, as specified by the TRO committee recommendation in Jan 2015.  An 
officer report and recommendation on whether to make permanent, modify or 
abandon will be created following the formal consultation period ending at Month 
6, with a formal decision being required by the Commissioning Director in Month 
8/9.  If the recommendation/ decision is to modify the experiment, it will run for 
the full 18 month period to December 2019.

 An initial information letter drop was undertaken in mid-February to councillors, 
properties within the Phase 4 area of interest and previous objectors to the 
overall scheme.  The information was also provided as a media release to the 
general public.  The responses are being collated and used to help refine the 
experimental TRO prior to commencement.

2.2.3 Cycling (update)
 There are a number of initiatives/projects currently underway for cycling.  Annex 

1 provides an update on each. 
2.2.4 Public Transport (update)

 Stagecoach West has registered a commercial – i.e. unsubsidised – Park and 
Ride service for Cheltenham from Arle Court from 14th May 2018.  Customers will 
be able to make contactless payments and use on-board Wi-Fi.  The fleet of 
buses will comply with Euro VI (low) emission standards, helping to improve air 
quality in the town.

Page 83



 Officers in the County Council’s Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) have been 
holding discussions with community transport operators and are working with the 
Local Government Association (LGA) to understand and manage the implications 
of changes in DfT’s guidance on the use of section 19 and section 22 permits for 
community transport services.  Following a court action by a commercial bus 
operator in another part of the country, the Government has required all councils 
to ensure that community transport is only procured from organisations using 
these permits in cases where there is no interest by an organisation holding an O 
(operators) license.  The requirement to hold an O license is likely to have 
implications on the complexity and cost of providing community run services. 

2.2.5 Commons and Rights of Way (CROW) Committee
 Deregulation Act (no change)

o Commencement of the Rights of Way provisions contained within the 2015 
Deregulation Act has been further delayed to 2018, with no firm date set.  

 Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs, update)
o Good progress has been made with determining and resolving outstanding 

Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) applications:
 Application at Rodborough determined by January CROW 

Committee meeting, order published to add footpath 
 Three applications at Cheltenham are being determined by CROW 

Committee on 29 March; a further application at South Cerney has 
been resolved under delegated powers 

 Application at Lypiatt to be determined under delegated powers at 
meeting scheduled for 12 April 2018

o The County Council continues to use alternative legal mechanisms for 
resolving Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) applications: 

 Network of footpaths created at Frith Wood, through a dedication by 
the landowners under s.25 of the 1980 Highways Act, following 
agreement with Parish Council and developer 

 Re-alignment of footpath at English Bicknor through s.119 of 1980 
Highways Act

o A meeting was held with the British Horse Society to discuss requirements 
for making claims for ways ahead of extinguishment of unrecorded 
historical rights in 2026.  They are intending to systematically examine 
historic sources for the county and to make a series of applications where 
there are unrecorded rights. 

3 Infrastructure and Major Projects  
3.1 Major Transport Projects
3.1.1 Major Schemes

 A417 Missing Link (update)
o The public consultation finished on 29 March.  Information regarding the 

consultation can be found here:
 http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link 
 https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/ 

o Two surface routes were consulted on: Option 12, the original ‘brown route’ 
that the (then) Highways Agency promoted in 2003, and Option 30, a 
second surface route with a slightly different alignment.  Tunnels have 
been discounted due to the high cost and low value for money.

o Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee and Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee discussed the consultation at their 

Page 84

http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/


respective March meetings and both recommended that Option 30 should 
be supported.  A Lead Cabinet Member (LCM) decision recommending 
support for Option 30 was signed on 22 March, and Full Council debated 
the consultation on 28 March.  The County Council’s response was sent on 
29th March. 

 Cinderford Spine Road (update)
o Construction works for Phase One of the road have now been completed; 

Snagging and defect work due for completion in Spring 2018.
o Additional newt license being obtained due to water infiltration following 

winter storms.

 Elmbridge (update)
o Scheme completed on time and on budget.
o Final account and outstanding Contractor payments (including retention) 

still to be agreed.  Contractor currently completing snagging and defects 
list.

o The contract for Arle Court Bus Priority has been awarded to Griffiths 
Construction Ltd

 Cross Keys roundabout (update)
o The County Council has been awarded £2.7 million Government funding 

for improvements to the Cross Keys roundabout at the junction of the A38 
and B4008, just north of junction 12 of the M5.  Works include new traffic 
lights on the A38, widening the approach lanes of the roundabout and 
enhancing conditions for buses and cyclists.  The scheme will cost 
£3.851m; the remaining money will be made up of section 106 funding, 
developer contributions and the County Council’s highways budget.  

o The County Council will progress detailed design throughout Spring 2018, 
with the aim of starting construction in Winter 2018.

o Key stakeholder meeting held with Local members (Cllr Davies and 
Williams), SDC Officers, Land owners.

3.1.2 Local Growth Fund (update)
 The initial £62.5m Growth Deal funding was announced in July 2014.  This 

included £14.1M major tail-end funding, now reduced to £9.07m to be paid 
directly from the Department for Transport (DfT) to the promoter; this is for 
Elmbridge Roundabout Scheme.  A further £15M of Growth Deal funding was 
announced in January 2015 and in February 2017, a further £29.13 million was 
secured in the third round of Growth Deal funding for the following projects:

o Longford Housing – £4.53 million
o Cyber Business Park – £22 million (DfT retained scheme)
o Gloucestershire College Forest of Dean Campus – £2.6 million

 In addition to the major tail-end funding allocation and the DfT-retained scheme 
(see above), £30,907,000 of the total Growth Deal allocation for Gloucestershire 
is allocated to the following transport schemes:

Scheme
Allocation

£’000
Indicative LEP Board 
decision date Promoter

A419 corridor 4,360 10/10/2017 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Lydney strategy 1,000 04/12/2018 Gloucestershire County Council 
Berkeley bridges 1,990 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Cinderford Northern Qtr 3,800 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Glos South West 
Bypass

2,000 20/02/2018 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 

Page 85



Scheme
Allocation

£’000
Indicative LEP Board 
decision date Promoter

St Barnabas 
Roundabout

1,000 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council 

B4063 Junction 1,600 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council 
A40 Over Rnd & 
Highnam

2,230 13/12/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 

Abbeymead / Metz Way 500 04/10/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Gloucester Transport 
Hub

6,400 16/02/2016 - approved Gloucester City Council 

Cheltenham Spa 
Railway

1,497 12/12/2017 approved Great Western Railway

Longford Housing 4,530 04/12/2018 Tewkesbury Borough Council
Total Transport 30,907

3.1.3 Capital Programme, 2017/18 (update)
 We currently anticipate spending £40.4M in the 2017/18 financial year, which is 

£2.1M below the anticipated target.  This is because of significantly slower 
progress than anticipated with the Street Lighting LED conversion project (see 
2.1.5).  Other than that all other spend is currently largely in line with the revised 
November 2017 target.

 We have received just over £1M of additional Pothole Action Fund money which 
will be used for a programme of localised patching of some of the sections of 
road that have been most seriously effected by potholes

3.1.4 Highways England (HE, update)
 Housing Infrastructure Fund.  The Government announced a new £2.3bn fund for 

local authorities and District Councils to bid to, to deliver new infrastructure to 
support new and existing communities.  The fund is divided into 2 streams: 

o A Marginal Viability Fund –Tewkesbury Borough Council was awarded 
an indicative £8.1m to provide a new bridge over a railway line replacing a 
level crossing, to solve a road capacity problem on the A46 and unlock 
development.  Cheltenham Borough Council was awarded an indicative 
£3m to provide public realm improvements at Portland Street to release a 
stalled town centre housing scheme on a brownfield site with consent for 
143 units of which 40% affordable.  

o A Forward Fund – Expressions of Interest (EOIs) were submitted by the 
County Council; one for an M5 Junction 10 upgrade and ‘Smart 
Motorways’ improvements; and one for improvements to M5 Junction 9 
and the A46.  On 21 March Government announced that the EOI for M5 
Junction 10 was successful, but the EOI for A46/J9 was not.  The County 
Council has been invited to enter the ‘co-development’ phase, working with 
Government to develop a business case for M5 junction 10.  Government 
will make decisions about funding schemes once the business cases are 
assessed later in 2018.  The County Council would be the scheme lead for 
development and delivery.

 Government has recently released information regarding a ‘Transforming Cities’ 
fund – aimed at ‘city regions’ with a working day population of >200k, and with 
the aim of improving public and sustainable transport connectivity.  On 9th April 
the LCM approved that officers develop and submit a bid to meet the DfT 
deadline of 8th June; interim LCM update 14th May.

3.1.5 Great Western Rail Franchise (update)
 The Government ran a consultation, asking for views on proposals for improving 

train services on the Great Western rail network from April 2020.  The Great 

Page 86



Western franchise could be split up and the plans, if implemented, would create a 
new West of England rail franchise.  County Council officers submitted an officer-
level response to meet the deadline of 21st February 2018, which has been 
shared with members of this Committee.  

 The DfT is expected to report back during the summer.
3.2 Planning
3.2.1 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 (S106) Agreements (update)

 Within Gloucestershire, progress on District Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedules is as set out in Annex 2.  

 The County Council continues to work with the CIL Charging Authorities to 
support on governance arrangements, CIL preparation and administration.

 At Gloucestershire County Council, the financial contributions that arise through 
S106 Planning Agreements, agreed with developers to mitigate against the 
specific impacts of a particular development, relate mainly to strategic 
infrastructure, such as highways and transportation, schools and libraries.  Annex 
3 shows the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and received.

 The Government is consulting on changes to developer contributions to support 
the delivery of housing.  County Council officers are developing a response.

3.2.2 Joint Core Strategy (JCS, no change)
 Following receipt of the Inspector’s final report, all three of the JCS authorities 

have now adopted the JCS.  It is anticipated that the JCS will be immediately 
reviewed, starting in 2018. 

3.2.3 Highways Development Management (HDM, update)
 We are going through a process to recruit to vacant and new positions.. We are 

also working with districts to develop planning performance agreements (PPAs), 
to provide developers with more certainty about the timescales for assessing 
larger applications, mainly in Cheltenham and Gloucester.  A workshop is 
planned with districts, Amey and Legal services to understand how we can make 
best use of PPAs to speed up the delivery of new development in 
Gloucestershire.

 Since 2012/13 the County Council, as Local Highway Authority (LHA), has 
provided LPAs with standing advice for assessing the transport impact of 
developments of up to five dwellings on minor (mostly residential) and ‘C’ class 
roads where the speed limit is 30mph or less.  The HDM team offers support 
guidance and training to LPAs to assist them with understanding how to apply 
standing advice effectively.

 Since October 2016, for larger and more complex applications, the County 
Council has also been providing LPAs with summary sheets with an overview of 
the main transport issues, concerns and recommendations.  We have asked 
LPAs to provide copies of these summaries to their members and to include them 
in their reports to planning committee.  National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF)

 Government is consulting on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF).  County Council officers are developing a response.

3.3 Waste
3.3.1 Joint Waste Committee (no change)

 The forecast for 2017/18 is a reduction in residual waste due to the full-year 
effect of the new improved waste services in Stroud and changes to recycling 
collections in other areas.  This will result in an anticipated recycling rate of 54% 
for the year.

Page 87



 Following approval by Cabinet in September 2017, a short-term interim 
arrangement for residual waste disposal has been prepared to cover the gap 
between expiry of the current landfill contract in August 2018 and 
commencement of operation of the Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility 
(Residual Waste Project) in or around summer 2019.  A business case has been 
produced to consider the options for waste transfer arrangements once Javelin 
Park is operational.  New arrangements for the transfer of waste from the north of 
the county will need to be established, and a decision on to procure this service 
is due in the spring. 

 A project to replace the aging and unreliable waste compaction equipment at the 
HRCs is underway. This will introduce new mobile compaction equipment to the 
sites, initially at Hempsted and Pyke Quarry, and will provide reliability and 
flexibility for the operations at these sites.  Associated ground repairs will take 
place at the same time to provide a safer working environment.  This will require 
temporary site closures of up to 2 weeks.

 Tendering for HRC materials recycling and disposal services has commenced.  
This utilises the Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) to let contracts for all 
materials which will commence in April 2018.  The new contract for Wood 
recycling commenced on the 1st January, offering an index linked pricing 
mechanism which is hoped will produce savings to the authority over its’ 3 year 
lifetime.

 A communications programme for 18/19 has been developed for approval by the 
Joint Waste Committee at the February meeting. This includes a number of 
campaigns aimed at reducing packaging waste, harnessing the current mood 
around the issues of plastic recycling.

 The governments 25 Year Environment Plan was published in January.  This 
provides a blueprint for a number of focused actions on a range of issues 
including waste management.  It also commits to producing a waste and 
resources strategy later this year, which will assist us in developing our plans in 
the future.  We will take this opportunity to review our own waste strategy in line 
with this.

 The latest performance forecast is included at Annex 4.
3.3.2 Residual Waste Project (update)

 The project is making good progress.
 Process equipment is being installed on site.  The erection of the steel framework 

continues, including for the visitor centre, flue gas treatment area and the roof 
structure for the incinerator bottom ash treatment hall.

 Western Power Distribution’s electricity cable installation works continue.  The 
cable will take power from the site to the national grid connection at the Ryeford 
substation, south of Stonehouse.

 Site operations and Health and Safety continue to a high standard.
 The Community Liaison Group met in March to discuss the project.  Minutes of 

the Group’s meetings can be found at http://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/get-
involved/community-liaison.

4 Minerals and Waste Planning 
4.1 Minerals Local Plan (MLP, update)

 Cabinet, at its meeting on 31st January 2018 resolved to recommend to Full 
Council the approval of the MLP for publication and submission to the Secretary 
of State for examination;

Page 88

http://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/get-involved/community-liaison
http://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/get-involved/community-liaison


 The recommendations made by Cabinet were reported to Full Council at its 
meeting on 28th March 2018;

 The MLP be published in spring 2018 and scheduled to be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination in late summer / autumn 2018.  Adoption may 
occur early in 2019;

 Following adoption, the new MLP will provide a local policy framework to deal 
with all minerals-related planning matters that arise across the county through to 
the end of 2032.

 A revised (9th) Minerals and Waste Development Scheme (MWDS) covering the 
period 2018/19 to 2020/21 has been approved and will shortly be published on 
the County Council website.  The MWDS is a timetable of plan-making work for 
the upcoming three years.

 In April 2018 new planning regulations come into force, which mandate local 
planning authorities, including the County Council, to formally review their local 
plans every five years from the date of their adoption.

5 Community Resilience
5.1 Renewable Energy Generation on the Council’s Estate (no change)

 Following the significant reduction of Government subsidy officers are reviewing 
options for the way forward including the viability of future investment in ground-
mounted solar PV generation on the Council’s estate.

5.2 Carbon Reduction Programme (no change)
 The Council has a target to reduce carbon emissions from its estate by 60% by 

2020/21 against the 2006/07 baseline.  
 Emissions for the corporate estate (reported a quarter in arrears) continue to be 

significantly ahead of target; a 12% reduction for Apr to Sep 2017/18 with a target 
reduction of 6% against the same period 2016/17.  This will mainly be as a result 
of LED Street Lighting installed under the new contract, together with ICT 
improvements and ongoing works to Shire Hall, coupled with mild weather.  

 Renewable energy generation on the Council's estate remains limited, with solar 
PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire Station.  Solar panels will 
be installed on the roof of Shire Hall as part of the refurbishment and options for 
further investment across the estate are being investigated.

5.3 Adaptation and Resilience
5.3.1 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)

 Delivering Sustainable Drainage Systems (no change):
o Gloucestershire County Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), 

has a statutory duty to provide substantive responses within 21 days to 
consultation referrals received from the Local Planning Authority regarding 
developer’s proposals for the management of surface water on major 
planning applications.

o During the period 1st October 2017 to 31st December 2017 the LLFA 
received 42 major planning application referrals and responded to 100% of 
these within the 21 day response deadline.  

o In the same period, in addition to the work required to provide advice on 
planning applications, officers have also had to deal with 10 requests for 
pre-application advice and 19 requests to discharge planning conditions.

 Flood Alleviation Schemes (update)
o Work has commenced at Priors/Oakley, north west of Cheltenham on a 

£2.5 million scheme to construct a flood alleviation scheme designed to 

Page 89



reduce the risk of flooding to 179 properties.  The scheme comprises two 
surface water attenuation basins and a number of channel diversions and 
improvements to watercourses on the Noverton Farm and Priors Farm 
sites.  It involves holding back surface water running off the Cleeve 
escarpment before releasing it back into the existing watercourses at a 
controlled rate.  The nature of the scheme will mean that existing land uses 
can continue after completion and minimise the impact on landowners and 
the local community.  The pre-commencement work is now finished and 
the civil engineering is expected to take about 10 months to complete, 
weather permitting.

o Investigations are ongoing at Brockworth and Churchdown to assess the 
number of properties at risk of flooding and the viability of installing 
property level protection.  Threshold surveys were undertaken over recent 
weeks to refine and verify our flood model data.  The next stage will be a 
technical survey during the summer with a view to installation in 2019 
subject to funding approval from Defra.

5.3.2 Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (LNP, update)
 The LNP partnership met on 15th March 2018.
 Interviews for the LNP Manager post were held on 9th February but the panel 

were unable to appoint.  The post was re-advertised with interviews 5th April and 
has now been appointed to.  The successful candidate is from the private sector, 
with good experience of major infrastructure projects and natural capital.  The 
LNP Manager is expected to be in post by early May; more information will be 
announced shortly.

 An advertisement has also been placed to try to find a new chairman.
 A417 Link consultation – the LNP will neither have nor submit a view given the 

likely disparity in views within the partnership, although it would stress the need 
for any scheme to deliver significant environmental, landscape and public health 
gain as possible.

 European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF)
o The two schemes submitted in the first round had still not received final 

approval but this was expected imminently.  Both of these would have 
some County Council involvement if they go ahead; i.e. using funds for 
highways and PRoW improvements to bring in match funding for green 
infrastructure and ecological enhancement.  Projects involving works on 
the Gloucester/ Sharpness and Cotswold Canals plus Market Towns in the 
County were being worked up to meet the May deadline.

 LNP Conference date set for Friday 26th October at the University of 
Gloucestershire.  Two levels of aims for the conference were agreed:

o Top level aim: Making the Business Case for Green Infrastructure (GI)
o Second level aims: 

 to secure a shift in policy and practice in the county 
 to influence the wider national debate on GI
 to raise the profile of the LNP and the University

5.3.3 National Adaptation Programme (NAP, update)
 The Climate Change Act (CCA) 2008 put in place a policy framework to promote 

adaptation action in the UK consisting of:
o The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) is a five-yearly 

assessment of the major risks and opportunities from climate change to the 
UK.  The Adaptation Sub-Committee (ASC) of the Committee on Climate 

Page 90

https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/the-legal-landscape/global-action-on-climate-change/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-government-report
https://www.theccc.org.uk/about/structure-and-governance/asc-members/


Change has a duty to advise Government on the preparation of the UK 
Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA).  

o The National Adaptation Programme (NAP) is the Government’s long-term 
strategy to address the main risks and opportunities identified in the 
CCRA, which is also produced every five years.  The next NAP will be 
published in July 2018; the LAAP has commented on the initial draft Local 
Government chapter, with the draft NAP expected to be published in 
May/June.

o The UK Adaptation Reporting Power grants the Secretary of State the 
power to require public service organisations to produce reports on what 
they are doing to adapt to climate change.  A consultation on the 
Government’s proposed strategy for the third round of the climate change 
Adaptation Reporting Power was conducted in Feb/Mar (more below).

 The Local Adaptation Advisory Panel (LAAP) for England (update)
o The LAAP, chaired by the Council’s Commissioning Director, Communities 

& Infrastructure, acts as an efficient forum for dialogue between local 
Government, central Government and arms length delivery bodies.  

o The LAAP met again in March to continue its preparations for submitting 
evidence to the Government’s anticipated NAP consultation.  

o The LAAP jointly with the Association of Directors of Environment, 
Economy, Planning & Transport (ADEPT) jointly commented on Defra’s 
initial draft of the NAP Local Government chapter, and on the Adaptation 
Reporting Power consultation.  In particular calling for:

 Reporting not to be voluntary, it having the inherent danger of 
skewing the results to those organisations that have made progress 
and are keen to report, whereas those who are failing to embrace 
the necessity of adaptation are unlikely to report this on a voluntary 
basis.

 Local authorities to be included in a mandatory reporting 
requirement; a voluntary approach may result in a lack of a high 
level strategic approach to adaption per se within some local 
authorities.

6 Community Resources and Partnership Projects
6.1 GlosCol RFD Campus Cinderford (update)

 Plans to establish a high quality further education and training facility in 
Cinderford’s Northern Quarter are continuing to progress and the College is 
scheduled to open in September 2018. 

6.2 Gloucester and Sharpness Canal (update)
 The County Council submitted a European Structural and Investment Fund 

(ESIF) Outline Application Form for funding to support the improvement and 
upgrade of canal tow paths in and around Gloucester, on the 10th November.  
Subject to approval the full ESIF business case will be prepared in early 2018 
with a view to commencing works on site in Summer 2018.  S106 monies from 
the Kingsway development have been secured for £450k (which could increase 
further depending on the rate of development).  An application for an 
Environmental Trust Grant of £200k was submitted in December 2017.  There 
are two sections of canal towpath upgrade being proposed:

1) Approx. 2.7km from High Bridge to Sims Bridge
2) Approx. 2.9km from Sims Bridge to The Pilot Public House

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/national-adaptation-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/adaptation-reporting-power


6.3 Gloucester Transport Hub (was Gloucester Bus Station, update)
 Funding has been secured from the GFirst LEP.
 Britannia was appointed Contractor for the Highway Works following an open 

tender process, with the City Council acting as Employer under the contract.
 Construction works are substantially complete on the highway scheme with some 

defects and the Stage 3 Safety Audit outstanding.  The works included the 
reopening of Station Road/Bruton Way junction and kerb-line alterations to 
Station Road, the upgrading of the Bruton Way/Station Approach junction 
resurfacing and traffic signal upgrade.  Bruton Way Spur (outside the Land 
Registry Office) has been upgraded with a new shared use footway/cycleway and 
the highway has been re-opened to Westbound traffic.  Work has been 
completed on Market Parade to upgrade the taxi rank and install a zebra crossing 
and puffin crossing.

 Work is currently underway progressing additional Traffic Regulation Orders are 
required to formalise the parking restrictions on Market Parade and prevent 
motorists from entering Bruton Way Spur in the wrong direction.  It is expected 
these orders will be implemented in summer 2018.

 Kier was appointed by Gloucester City Council to take forward the design and 
build the new Bus Station.  Kier have installed the steel frame structure and work 
is underway to complete the remaining building works in 2018.

6.4 Lydney (update)
 The overflow rail station car park is now open and the lease has been extended 

by another 2 years.
6.5 Libraries
6.5.1 Stonehouse Library relocation (no change)

 Discussions are still ongoing with Stonehouse Town Council about the 
opportunity to relocate the library into the current Town Council building but are 
taking time.  The current library building is deteriorating so there is now some 
urgency in needing to come to an agreement which works for both parties.  The 
terms of occupation and a further draft layout have been produced and need to 
be agreed by the Town Council before the proposal goes through the Council’s 
governance processes.  There will also need to be a full 12 week public 
consultation on the proposal.

6.5.2 Growth Hub – Tier 3 network (update)
 The last phase of the library Growth Hubs roll-out was completed in March 2018.  

The innovation lab is being set up at Coleford Library and we are working on its 
launch.  Sarah Danson from the main Gloucester Growth Hub has been asked to 
speak at the National Growth Hub Network meeting about their link with libraries 
and the Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals saw our 
stand at the Vision 2050 launch and also wants a piece written about the link 
between the Growth Hub and Libraries for their Journal.  There appears to be a 
lot of interest nationally about the Gloucestershire model.

6.5.3 Nailsworth Library (update)
 Nailsworth Town Council had hoped to re-locate the Town Information Centre 

into the library by the end of May, although this timescale is unlikely to be met as 
they need to have further meetings with their volunteers.  It is more likely that this 
move will happen after the summer.

6.5.4 Cheltenham & Gloucester Libraries refurbishment (new item)
 Both Cheltenham & Gloucester Libraries have had first phases of refurbishment 

to create wi-fi and study areas.  These refurbishments have been funded by 

Page 92



S106 developers’ contributions.  Phase 2 of the refurbishments will take place in 
the next financial year to reduce staff counters and introduce more mobile 
working using digital tablets.

6.5.5 Libraries & Registration Services (new item)
 From April 2018, Libraries & Information and Registration Services will come 

together under one Head of Service.  From April 1st, Jane Everiss (Head of 
Library Services) will be taking up the new post of Head of Libraries & 
Registration and will be exploring ways of Libraries & Registration working more 
closely together to benefit the local residents of Gloucestershire. 

 Registrars already join babies up as library members when their birth is 
registered and help distribute Bookstart packs. In addition, library staff support 
customers who wish to book birth or death appointments online and also help 
customers who may wish to obtain a copy certificate so we already working 
successfully in partnership, but by having one Head of Service there will be 
further opportunities to explore a closer working relationship.

6.6 ROBUST (Rural-Urban Outlooks – Unlocking Synergies) project (no change)
 ROBUST is a European research project being delivered by a consortium of 24 

research institutes, local and regional authorities.  The overall goal is to:
a) Advance our understanding of the interactions and dependencies between 

rural, peri-urban and urban areas; and
b) Identify and promote policies, governance models and practices that foster 

mutually beneficial relations. Improved governance arrangements and 
synergies between rural, peri-urban and urban areas will in turn contribute 
to Europe’s smart sustainable and inclusive growth, maximising the 
creation of rural jobs and value-added.

 Gloucestershire is one of the settings for the research, and Gloucestershire 
County Council and the University of Gloucestershire’s Countryside and 
Community Research Institute are amongst the partners in the consortium.  The 
project receives funding from the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research and 
innovation programme and will run for four years from June 2017. The UK 
Government has recently launched the Industrial Strategy which acknowledges 
the importance and value of the UK’s collaboration with partners in the Horizon 
2020 programme.

Contact Officer
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 01452 328470

Page 93

mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk


ANNEX 1: CYCLING UPDATE
Updates on the cycling initiatives/projects currently underway are set out below:
Initiative/ 
Scheme

Update

Transforming 
Cities Fund

The Government has announced, as part of the Autumn Budget 2017, the 
creation of the £1.7bn Transforming Cities Fund.  The aim of the Fund is to 
invest in new local transport infrastructure to boost productivity by improving 
public and sustainable transport connectivity.
For Mayoral Combined Authorities with an existing, directly-elected Mayor, half 
of the Fund has been allocated.  £840 million is now available over the four year 
period to 2021-22. The funding will be entirely capital.  It will be allocated by a 
competitive process aimed at identifying the city regions with the strongest case 
for investment – be they by size, levels of congestion, strategic vision for 
change and local support. 
The government will then select up to ten city regions. These will then be 
competitively assessed against each other with funding awarded to the 
proposals which demonstrate the greatest improvements to productivity and 
offer the best value for money. 
City regions with workday populations above 200,000 people will therefore 
score more strongly.  Officers are investigating the ability for GCC to bid, 
including identifying suitable schemes and delivery potential within the 
timeframe.

Capital 
programme/ 
s106

Purpose: The County Council has a capital programme for scheme delivery, 
some of which is allocated for cycling schemes.
Update: The following schemes have funding allocated for 2017/2018:
2017/18 Schemes
 Barriers to Cycling Gloucester: Cycle signs, kerbing alterations, tree removal 

and surfacing, completed October 2017
 Barriers to Cycling Cheltenham: Contraflow cycle lane, completed October 

2017
 Bristol Road Cycle and Safety Scheme: Cycle lane alterations, completed  

December 2017
 Pedestrian Cycle Linkages Cold Pool Lane to Morrisons: shared use 

footway/cycleway, construction complete.
 Kingsditch Lane, Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: shared use 

footway/cycleway, completed October 2017
 Bishops Cleeve to Tewkesbury Cycle Signing: cycle signing improvements. 

Design complete, delivery summer 2018.
2018/19 Schemes
 Northway Lane, Tewkesbury Cycletrack:  Shared use footway/cycleway. 

Land Acquisition and detailed design underway
 Gloucester Canal Towpath:  Upgrading the Canal Towpath between 

Gloucester and Hardwicke.  Construction programmed for May 2018 by the 
Canal and River Trust

 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: Provision of new 
shared use cycleway parallel to A435.  Design and landowner negotiations 
underway

 Pittville to The Park Student Cycle Route:  Cycle signing improvements 
Route investigation undertaken, detailed design to follow 

 Lydney Transport Strategy:  Create and enhance cycle provision to improve 
connectivity in Lydney.  LEP Funded scheme and business case being 
prepared.

 Developer funded improvements to the Highnam Cycletrack

Page 94



Initiative/ 
Scheme

Update

Highways 
England – SRN 
barriers

Purpose: Highways England is managing a £100m budget for improving 
facilities for cyclists on the Strategic Road network (SRN).  Their top priority for 
the Gloucestershire area is the link between Gloucester and Cheltenham and a 
package of improvements, worth £3.5m has been proposed by Highways 
England for the B4063.
Action:  HE is expected to lead on the detailed design and consultation for this 
scheme throughout 2018/19.  Construction is likely to take place in 2019/20 and 
has to be complete by March 2020.  The County Council is working with both 
the HE and the LEP to secure additional funds for further improvements on the 
route.  HE staff presented to the Cycling Advisory Group meeting on 26 March.

Cycling and 
Walking 
Investment 
Strategy (CWIS)

GCC officers met with the Department for Transport in March to discuss the 30 
day consultancy support offered to assist in the production of the first phase of 
the County’s Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP).
The first phase will focus on the Central Severn Vale area and is programmed 
for completion by the end of September 2018.  This will enable the plan to form 
part of the wider Local Transport Plan review process which includes a public 
consultation planned for late autumn 2018.
In terms of cycling we intend to identify and prioritise the removal of barriers for 
cycle movements under the following categories:
 Primary: High flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link large 

residential areas to trip attractors such as a town or city centre.
 Secondary: Medium flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that link 

to trip attractors such as schools, colleges and employment sites.
 Local: Lower flows of cyclists are forecast along desire lines that cater for 

local cycle trips, often providing links to primary or secondary desire lines.
In terms of walking we intend to prioritise improvements to our Large Public 
Transport Hubs – Gloucester Station, Cheltenham Spa Station and Gloucester 
Bus Station.
An important part of the LCWIP process is to fully understand the barriers and 
where improvements are needed.  This is really important as we intend to 
engage with members from our protected characteristics including: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (gender) and sexual orientation.
The high-level project timetable is provided below:

Project Stage M
ar

ch

A
pr

il

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

A
ug

us
t

Se
pt

em
be

r

Stage 1 – Determining Scope        
Stage 2 – Gathering Information        
Stage 3 – Network Planning for Cycling        
Stage 4 – Network Planning for Walking        
Stage 5 – Prioritising Improvements        
Stage 6 – Integration and Application        

The focus of our consultancy support will aid stakeholder engagement, network 
audits, technical workshops and the identification and prioritisation of 
improvements.

Page 95



Initiative/ 
Scheme

Update

Public bike hire 
presentations

Following well-attended market engagement presentations on public bike hire 
schemes by Nextbike and Yobike, a group of officers from the county council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucester City Council and the University of 
Gloucestershire have met to study in more detail the practicalities of introducing 
a joint scheme covering Cheltenham and Gloucester. This might involve 35+ 
‘stations’ across the two urban areas, including key transport interchanges, town 
centres and university sites.

Gloucestershire 
County Council 
Travel Plan

The County Council’s Travel Plan is currently being developed and improved 
with a number of initiatives underway.  These include:
 electric and low emission pool cars for staff launched in April 
 exploring electric pool bikes and changes to the maximum loan available to 

staff through the CycleScheme, to make electric bikes more affordable
 improved cycle storage and changing/shower facilities in Block 5

This is being coordinated with the Worksmarter and Green Impact projects, to 
help staff avoid the need to travel by making better use of digital solutions such 
as video conferencing and through more flexible working.  The ‘Thinktravel’ 
website continues to promote and support cycling see 
https://www.thinktravel.info/ 

LTP-Cycle and 
Think travel 
strategies

LTP was adopted at Full Council on 29 June 2016.  The plan will be reviewed in 
2018/19, including a revised cycle strategy.

Cycle liaison 
group update

Cycle liaison group met on Monday 12 March 2018.

Cycle 
Champions

The cross-party Cycling Advisory Group met on 26th March 2018.

Page 96

https://www.thinktravel.info/


ANNEX 2: Community Infrastructure Levy

The table below shows progress on District CIL Charging Schedules.

Local 
Authority

PDCS 
Consultation

DCS 
Consultation

Proposed rates Next steps

Stroud DC Feb 2014 April – Jun 
2016

Resi1: £80/Sqm
Retail2: £75/Sqm

Adopted and effective 
as of Apr 2017

Gloucester 
City Council

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £0/Sqm
11+ units: £45/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Cheltenham 
BC

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £148/Sqm
11+ units: £200/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Retirement Homes: 
£200/Sqm
Extra Care Homes: 
£100/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Tewkesbury 
BC

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £104/Sqm
11+ units: £200/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Cotswold 
DC

Published for 
consultation Jun 
- Aug 2016

Oct 2016 Resi1: £80/Sqm
Retail3: £60/Sqm

Examination: Dec 2017
Adoption: 2018

Forest of 
Dean DC

Not yet 
published

The Forest of Dean DC 
Cabinet resolved in Apr 
2015 to support the 
development of a 
potential CIL in the 
District when resources 
are available.  

Notes:
1) Strategic sites are excluded from CIL charge as infrastructure will most likely be secured 

through S106.
2) Supermarkets and retail warehouses
3) All retail

Page 97



ANNEX 3: Section 106 Planning Quarterly Contributions

The tables below show the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and 
received.

Negotiated Financial Contributions – Table 1

Overview:

 Table 1 details the number of S106 Planning Agreements/Unilateral 
Undertakings signed and total contributions negotiated and agreed to support the 
provision of highways, education & libraries infrastructure in Gloucestershire per 
quarter.

 These contributions will only become due to the County Council on 
implementation of the planning permission and respective trigger dates as 
detailed in individual agreements.

 The signed agreements include those with a valid planning consent as well as 
those that are subject to appeal.  For example; the headline figure in Q3 (October 
2015 – December 2015) included the Leckhampton (Shurdington Road, 650 
dwellings) development/agreement, with a negotiated value of over £6.5m, which 
was dismissed on appeal.  In Q4 (January 2016 – March 2016), the 
Leckhampton (Farm Lane, 377 dwellings) development/agreement with a 
negotiated value of £2,728,142.00 was allowed on appeal.

Latest Analysis Q3 - 2018:

 There are 2 agreements alone with negotiated values which together amount to 
over £2.8m as follows:

o £1.9m – Land North East of Draycott, Box Road, Cam
o Over £900,000.00 – Highfield Road, Lydney

Table 1:
2015/2016 No. of Agreements Signed Total Value 

Negotiated 
Q1 April - June 11 £1,935,109.45
Q2 July - September 10 £1,574,110.00
Q3 October - December 7 £8,327,342.00
Q4 January - March 15 £8,216,894.00
2016/2017
Q1 April – June 11 £1,737,570.00
Q2 July - September 11 £2,234,717.00
Q3 October -December 6 £1,246,812.00
Q4 January – March 3 £1,437,439.00
2017/2018
Q1 April – June 11 £4,117,000.00
Q2 July - September 17 £15,641,000.00
Q3 – October - December 10 £3,746,880.00

Page 98



S106 Contributions Due:
The table below shows details of developments with contributions valued over £100,000 
that have become due in Mar 2018 to date.  
Developer Amount Development/Contribution
Crest Nicholson Ltd £671,912.00 Hunts Grove – Education  

S106 Contributions Received:
Contributions become due on trigger dates which are set out in each agreement.  The 
table below shows the contributions valued over £100,000 that have been received during 
Mar 2018 to date.  
Developer Amount Received in Jan-Feb 2018
Taylor Wimpey, Bristol £169,708 Travis Perkins Site, Gloucester 

Road – Education and Library 

Page 99



ANNEX 4: Waste Performance for 2016/17

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Forecast

Total Municipal Waste 293,833 288,680 280,205 278,355 287,823 298,019 301,432 309,470 305,733
Variance -4.4% -1.8% -2.9% -0.7% 3.4% 3.5% 1.1% 2.7% -1.2%
Municipal Waste Landfilled 169,023 152,956 147,092 144,822 155,366 161,009 156,498 153,556 145,038
Variance -4.2% -9.5% -3.8% -1.5% 7.3% 3.6% -2.8% -1.9% -5.5%

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Forecast

Total Household Waste 276,816 273,373 261,792 261,291 266,475 275,949 277,864 286,638 283.792
Variance -4.5% -1.2% -4.2% -0.2% 2.0% 3.6% 0.7% 3.2% -1.0%
H’hold Waste Landfilled 161,072 145,911 137,337 134,504 138,141 146,335 146,158 136,435 128,435
Variance -3.6% -9.4% -5.9% -2.1% 2.7% 3.6% -0.1% -6.7% -5.9%
Reuse & Recycling 66,501 70,348 68,771 70,189 71,075 69,967 73,029 80,116 82,819
Variance -5.7% 5.8% -2.2% 2.1% 1.3% -1.6% 4.4% 9.7% 3.4%
Food & Garden Waste 49,244 54,914 55,100 55,803 56,637 60,104 59,132 69,618 72,761
Variance -2.9% 11.5% 0.3% 1.3% 1.5% 6.1% -1.6% 17.7% 4.5%
Total Recycling 115,744 125,262 123,871 125,992 127,712 130,071 132,161 148,832 155,580
Variance 4.5% -8.2% 1.1% -1.7% -1.4% -1.8% 1.6% 12.6% 4.5%

The 2017/18 forecast continues to show that Gloucestershire is on course to recycle and compost more waste than is landfilled, with a 
forecast recycling rate in the region of between 54.5% for the full year.  The improved performance this year is largely due to changes to 
the collection services in Stroud and Cheltenham.  These are the last planned major service changes within Gloucestershire and step 
changes of this scale are unlikely to be seen again with the current configuration of services.  As stated in previous reports, the Joint 
Waste Committee has agreed to look at new options for increasing performance and establishing common service aspects across all 
partner areas when opportunities arise in the coming years.  An opportunity to further improve will occur when the Joint Waste team and 

P
age 100



Cotswold District Council review their services in 2019.  This will also provide an opportunity to develop a template for agreed common 
services across the county, which itself will be a focus for the partnership as we move forward.

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2018

17 January 2018 7 March 2018 9 May 2018 11 July 2018

Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood 
and Community Resilience – To 

receive a presentation 

Motion 787: Pavements - To receive 
a report on measures to improve the 
inspection and fixing of pavements

Quarter 3 2017/18
Performance Report

Quarter 4 2017/18
Performance Report

Road Safety Review – to receive an  
update report

A417 ‘Missing Link’ Consultation Air Pollution and its Impact on Public 
Health – to receive a report on the 

task group’s recommendations 

Libraries – to receive a report on 
how libraries have developed, the 

range of services provided by 
libraries, and community hub 

relationships 

A429 Task Group – to receive an 
update report

Public Rights of Way – to receive a 
report from the Cabinet Member on 

timescale and officer capacity

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure – to 
receive a report

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 8



19 September 2018 7 November 2018 

Quarter 1 2018/19
Performance Report

Quarter 2 2018/19
 Performance Report

 

Cotswold National Park Status – to 
receive an update from GEGSC 
members on progress with the 
scrutiny review of the proposal

Fastershire Broadband – to receive 
an update report

FUTURE ITEMS

1 Soft Flood Alleviation Schemes 6 Footways (in relation to Motion 787: Pavements) 
– to be revisited early 2019

2 Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport 7

3 Infrastructure South – including the third river 
crossing

8

4 Advice from Gloucestershire County Council (as 
Lead Local Flood Authority) to local planning 
authorities

5 Infrastructure Planning

P
age 104


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	7 March 2018 Action Sheet

	4 Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Task Group
	Appendix A - Air Quality and Health in Gloucestershire Report
	Appendix B - Workshop Outcomes Report

	5 Public Rights of Way
	6 Chief Fire Officer Report
	7 Commissioning Directors Report
	8 Work Plan

